
[image: image1.jpg]) SIC PERMANET

| _rocus | 4
Ontario

VT INCEPIT

2\




ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

	FILE NO.:
	EB‑2013-0321
	

	VOLUME:

DATE:

BEFORE:
	8

June 23, 2014

Marika Hare

Christine Long

Allison Duff
	Presiding Member

Member

Member


EB-2013-0321

THE ONTARIO ENERGY BOARD

IN THE MATTER OF the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998, S.O. 1998, c. 15, Sched. B;

AND IN THE MATTER OF an application by Ontario Power Generation Inc. pursuant to section 78.1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, 1998 for an order or orders determining payment amounts for the output of certain of its generating facilities.

Hearing held at 2300 Yonge Street,

25th Floor, Toronto, Ontario,

on Monday, June 23rd, 2014,

commencing at 9:45 a.m.

--------------------

VOLUME 8

--------------------

BEFORE:


MARIKA HARE


Presiding Member


CHRISTINE LONG


Member


ALLISON DUFF


Member

MICHAEL MILLAR
Board Counsel

VIOLET BINETTE
Board Staff

DUNCAN SKINNER

CRAWFORD SMITH
Ontario Power Generation (OPG)

CARLTON MATHIAS

RICHARD STEPHENSON
Power Workers' Union (PWU)

MARK RUBENSTEIN
School Energy Coalition (SEC)

1--- On commencing at 9:45 a.m.


1Procedural Matters


4ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 5, resumed


L. Ladak, J. Fitzsimmons, A. Earle, R. Chaykowski, Previously Affirmed
4Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson


36--- Recess taken at 10:45 a.m.


36--- On resuming at 11:10 a.m.


36Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar


89--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.


89--- On resuming at 1:38 p.m.


89Preliminary Matters


90Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar


142--- Recess taken at 3:05 p.m.


142--- On resuming at 3:30 p.m.


172Procedural Matters


173--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:17 p.m.




36EXHIBIT NO. K8.1:  BOARD STAFF CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM for panel 5.




81UNDERTAKING NO. J8.1:  To update Table 2 on page 32, if possible





Monday, June 23, 2014


--- On commencing at 9:45 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Good morning.  Please be seated.

I understand we have a few procedural matters?  Mr. Smith?
Procedural Matters:


MR. SMITH:  Two that I would like to raise, Madam Chair.  The first relates to our panel number 6, which is cost of capital, and Ms. McShane will be travelling up from the United States.

I had a discussion with Board Staff.  I was hoping that we could put her in the book for Thursday and she will make travel arrangements accordingly.

MS. HARE:  I think that's fine.  It might be Thursday afternoon, but I think the time estimates are like three hours for her.

MR. SMITH:  Yes.

MS. HARE:  So even if she starts Thursday afternoon -- it might be sooner, but we will see -- that would be fine, so Thursday is confirmed.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

The second item I wanted to raise was in relation to the matter that you raised with me at the end of the day on Friday, which was the scheduling of panels after Ms. McShane.  And I guess the question really is, do we, knowing that the panel isn't going to conclude on Friday, do we want to start.

We do want to start, but I would like to understand what the Panel's expectation is with respect to our communicating with witnesses.  Maybe it would be helpful if I just tell you where I'm coming from, and you can tell me if I have lost the plot.

Mr. Barrett is on panel 7, and I will need to take instructions from him on other unrelated matters unrelated to his evidence.

My understanding, and the basis upon which I'm saying yes to Friday, is we will not speak to him about -- he's under cross-examination.  We will not be speaking to members of the panel about their evidence, but presumably we can speak to them about other matters unrelated to the evidence they're giving on that panel.  If everyone is clear on that, then I am perfectly happy to proceed on Friday, because I would like to keep the day.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Are there submissions from anyone on this matter?

MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, that's fine by Staff.  It is unusual to have a panel start and then have a two-and-a-half week break, but it is not unprecedented.  And certainly my recollection is in Hydro One cases Mr. Rogers often seeks a similar permission to speak to witnesses, for example, to -- sometimes he needs them to prepare undertaking responses, things like that.  As long as there is a very clear understanding, and certainly everyone knows Mr. Smith will follow that, but if there is a clear understanding that the evidence that they are giving through the panel is not discussed, and that is fine with us.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Any other submissions?  No?  So that's fine with the Panel.

MR. SMITH:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  There is one other matter that was brought to our attention.  It concerns the cost claims that are due tomorrow.  I understand VECC has difficulty in filing the cost claims tomorrow and thought that it was optional to file interim cost claims.

I am looking at the transcript, when I said that we are addressing the letter received from the School Energy Coalition regarding interim cost claims.  We agreed to receiving cost claims for the period ending June 11th, and that the cost claims will be due June 24th, and we would review these for interim disposition.

It was not my idea that these would be optional, but rather that all parties would submit cost claims for the period ending June 11th.  The reason that is important to us is, as you know, we often compare the cost claims of various intervenors, and I think OPG does the same.  And so I think it is important to receive them all at the same time.

Having said that, if VECC has some difficulty with their computer systems and can't submit them by tomorrow and are a few days late, that would still be fine.

But Ms. Binette, assuming that Mr. Janigan is not listening to the oral hearing, if you could let him know that there will be some indulgence, in terms of being a couple days late, but not that it would be at the end.

MS. BINETTE:  I will.

MS. HARE:  Okay?  Thank you.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.  There no further preliminary matters from our perspective.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Oh, I'm sorry, there is one matter, and it's the scheduling of the technical conference.  And I understand that Staff has polled parties and that most have indicated July 8, 9, or 10 are all suitable.  One party can't make the 10th, so we would like to confirm that the technical conference will be July 8th and, if a second day is required, it would be the 9th.

That has the advantage also of giving a few days between the hearing -- the start of the hearing starting up again on July, what would that be, 14th?

MR. MILLAR:  14th.

MS. HARE:  14th.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  Okay?  Thank you.  Okay.  I think that takes us to Mr. Stephenson to resume your cross-examination.
ONTARIO POWER GENERATION - PANEL 5, resumed


Lubna Ladak, Previously Affirmed


Jason Fitzsimmons, Previously Affirmed


Ali Earle, Previously Affirmed


Richard Chaykowski, Previously Affirmed


Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good morning, panel.  I want to pick up with an issue about looking at comparators from the perspective of OPG compensation relative to other companies.

And if I can, can I get you to turn up -- I believe it is tab 1 in the compendium that I provided to you.  This is an excerpt from your pre-filed evidence, Exhibit F4, tab 3, schedule 1.  And in particular, if I can get you to turn up pages 10 and 11.

And going first to table 3 on page 11, I take it the purpose of this table is to demonstrate to the Board OPG's performance with respect to PWU wage increases relative to other Ontario Hydro successor companies.  Is that right?

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And just to be clear about this, am I right that amongst these companies, Bruce Power, Kinetrics, New Horizon, and Inergi, none of those entities are regulated by this Board?

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And just looking to the bottom line, so to speak, am I right that essentially the conclusion that we can draw from this table is that OPG's performance with respect to PWU wage escalation is pretty good.  It is essentially better than all of the alternatives, with the sole exception, I believe, of Kinetrics, and IESO is very close.

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, that's right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And what's important about this, if I am correct, is that all of these companies, number one, start from the same base point; that is, the old Ontario Hydro collective agreement?

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, that's what we established on Friday.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And secondly, all of these entities operate in the Ontario electricity sector?

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And all of these entities have got the same bargaining agent from the employee perspective.  By definition, these are all -- what you have looked at are PWU bargaining units?

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, that's right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And so I take it that, from your perspective, when we're talking about looking out at comparators, perceived these companies to be the most relevant and the closest comparators; is that fair? 

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, that's correct. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, that being said, these companies are -- they're not all the same as each other, in the sense they all -- not all of them, but most of them are in different businesses; correct?

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's right. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  Bruce Power is, in fact, a very similar company in many respects to OPG, at least the OPG nuclear business; fair? 

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  It would be the most similar of all of those companies.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But it may well be that looking at these various other companies, each of them will have their own dynamic in terms of relative bargaining strength; fair?  I mean, the union's bargaining strength relative to the employer's will be different in every case; correct? 

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, with the primary difference being, obviously, with OPG and Bruce Power and Hydro One, there are multiple classifications covered by the collective agreement.

In some of the other cases, if we use, you know, the IT companies, for example, they would have a limited number of classifications within -- under the collective bargaining agreement. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  But one of the things we talked about the other day -- and maybe most of this discussion was with Professor Chaykowski -- was the fact that a critical aspect of the relative bargaining power in these relationships is the ability of the employer to operate during a work stoppage.  You recall that, Professor Chaykowski? 

DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Yes, I do. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And I don't know whether this is for you or for Mr. Fitzsimmons, but leaving Bruce Power aside for a moment -- I will come back to them -- these other companies may well be in a different situation than OPG; correct?  With respect to that issue? 

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I don't have sufficient knowledge of the considerations within these companies to make that conclusion. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  They may or may not?

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  They may or may not. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But again, even -- I guess what I'm getting at is this.  Even though you view these entities as your closest and most relevant comparators, from the perspective of collective bargaining outcomes, even though they are the most relevant, they aren't necessarily -- you can't assume that the same outcomes are likely to prevail with respect to these companies, as compared to OPG?

Here's what I'm getting at.  Because their relative bargaining power in each case may be similar and may be different, and because that is a key -- you have told us because that is a key factor in collective bargaining outcomes, these companies may not generate precisely the same collective bargaining outcomes? 

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Fair enough. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  But now let me circle back to Bruce Power.  And you may not -- I mean, you're not here to speak for Bruce Power, obviously, but you would agree with me that to the extent that OPG nuclear is unable to operate in the face of a PWU work stoppage, there is good reason to believe that Bruce Power is in the same boat; fair? 

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.  I would have no reason to believe that they would be in a different position than what we are with respect to some of the key classifications that would be required to continue operations in the event of a work stoppage.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So that is a particular attribute which makes Bruce Power a particularly relevant comparator.  Don't you agree?

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, I would agree. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  And then if I can, let me just go from there to table 2, which is on page 10. 

And if I am right, what you're doing here is you're taking a selection of job -- jobs that are commonly held as between both OPG and Bruce Power and comparing the current compensation?  That's what's going on here? 

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  What you're telling the Board, I take it, in this table, is that OPG compares favourably to Bruce Power with respect to most, if not all, of these jobs? 

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I take it, from your perspective, you take comfort from that; is that fair? 

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Given that the challenges that we are faced with in collective bargaining are with the unions driving to Bruce Power as the major comparator, we take comfort in the fact that we have maintained our wage rates much lower than what has been achieved with that company. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And I mean, isn't it fair to say, frankly, that if we were looking out at comparators and talking about the limitations of the value of comparators, I mean, frankly, Bruce Power is, by far, the closest comparator to you, in the sense of all of the various factors which govern the power dynamics of that bargaining relationship; correct? 

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.  In terms of the scope and size of the bargaining unit, the types of classifications employed, the operational considerations, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And frankly, I mean, it's -- everybody else is miles away, in terms of, you know, the relative sameness compared to Bruce Power.  Bruce Power is a close competitor, and everybody else, frankly, isn't all that close, really?  That's the reality, because their businesses are fundamentally different? 

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, that's accurate. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Can I get you to turn up -- it is an undertaking response.  And it is J3.5 and it is attachment 1, and it is a spreadsheet.  And I just have a couple of questions for you.  I suspect I may be the first people to take you to this spreadsheet but I'm not going to be the last.

I just have a couple of issues I want to deal with you on, and it is at the bottom of the spreadsheet.  It's the second-last group of things that are being compared, and it is the PWU numbers toward bottom of the page.  It has FTEs and comp and so forth.  Do you see that? 

MS. LADAK:  Yes, we do. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Just a couple of small points, and I am looking now at the line -- just so we're clear about what is going on on this table, what you have done, broadly speaking, is to back out pension and other post-employment benefit current service costs from total comp, in order to give what you call a normalized comp number.  That's the key thing that is going on on this table; correct? 

MS. LADAK:  That's correct. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  And the reason that you've done that, I take it, is because that cost line, that is the pension and OPEB current service costs line, is very dramatically affected by a bunch of factors that aren't really under OPG's control in any meaningful way, because of actuarial issues?

MS. LADAK:  Yes.  There are several factors that -- like the discount rate, that would be impacting that number.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  Those are all external to OPG issues?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And so I just want to look at the line called "Normalized total compensation."

And as I understand it, if we look at that line and we compare the figure for 2010, your actuals, in aggregate it is 731 million, and we compare that to your 2015 forecast, which is at 728.8, what it is telling me is that OPG is forecasting a decrease in aggregate comp to PWU represented employees over that time frame.  Correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And if I just look at the -- I guess it is the extreme right-hand number in that row, the .4 percent number, that is the decrease, correct?

MS. LADAK:  That's right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  So we know -- and in terms of that aggregate comp number, the way OPG has achieved that is through the head-count reduction.  Correct?

MS. LADAK:  Primarily, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, in fact, I mean, there is an -- there's actually an increase in the per FTE comp.

MS. LADAK:  Right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But there are less FTEs, and so the head-count reduction has overwhelmed the per FTE average comp increase, correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, I would agree with that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then I just wanted to -- while I am on this same part of this chart, there is a couple of numbers that actually aren't revealed, but you can derive them, which is the average pension and other post-employment benefits per FTE number.

If you look at that -- which, it isn't on this chart, but you -- it is easy to do the math -- there is between 2010 and 2015 a very significant increase in that number.  Correct?

MS. LADAK:  In the pension number, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  And it more than doubles over that time period, correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes.  And as we talked about, there is a number of factors that drive that, such as the discount rate.

MR. STEPHENSON:  This is the only thing I wanted to get from you.  During that time frame -- that is, from 2010 to 2015 -- there is no material difference in the benefits that are offered by virtue of the pension and other post-employment benefits, correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So the increased cost is not -- does not arise by virtue of an increase in benefits.

MS. LADAK:  That's right.  Mr. Fitzsimmons covered that on Friday.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I want to turn for a moment -- just for a moment to overtime quickly.

You know, panel, that there is a concern about overtime levels at OPG.  Correct?  You're aware of that concern?

MS. LADAK:  There are some concerns, yes.  That's been raised in some of the interrogatories.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It's been raised by this Board in prior cases, and it was dealt with in the Auditor General's report, correct?

MS. LADAK:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Just to be clear, the amount of overtime worked at OPG is an issue largely within the control of management.  Correct?

MS. LADAK:  Well, it's based on the work that takes place, right?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I'm going to get to that in a minute.

MS. LADAK:  Okay.

MR. STEPHENSON:  OPG has got a bundle of work that it has to execute in a given year, and there are a variety of different ways that OPG can accomplish that, correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And one of the ways it can accomplish that is through assigning overtime.  Correct?

MS. LADAK:  That's one of the methods, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  It is not the only method, however.

MS. LADAK:  That's correct.

MR. STEPHENSON:  There are at least two other methods, if not three, that come to mind.  One other method you could do would be to hire more regular employees and assign each of them less over time, correct?

MS. LADAK:  On the surface, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Another thing you could do -- and let me stop there.  Assuming that that's what you chose to do, your overtime numbers would go down, correct?  In terms of dollars?

MS. LADAK:  Yes.  Overtime in itself, when we look at things in the context of our total costs, but, yes, overtime on its own would go down.

MR. STEPHENSON:  I'm going to get to that.  And your average comp per FTE would also go down, correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  But your aggregate comp would go up, correct?  In all likelihood.

MS. LADAK:  Well, it depends.  It depends on the nature of the work, the type of skills that are required.  So I'm not sure if the aggregate comp would go up or not.

MR. STEPHENSON:  One of the consequences that you would have to be mindful of and that you are mindful of, in terms of taking on new regular employees, is, of course, that you're not only paying them an hourly amount or an annual amount, but you're incurring, for example, new pension and other post-employment benefit liabilities.  Correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's what I was referring to.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So it doesn't necessarily decrease your average comp number.  In fact, it might -- very likely to increase it.  Fair?

MS. LADAK:  That's correct, it could increase it.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And if we're concerned about payment amounts, it is very likely -- relative to those two alternatives, very likely to increase payment amounts, because it has increased aggregate comp?

MS. LADAK:  It would be very specific to the individual cases that we would have to look at.

MR. STEPHENSON:  All right.  Another alternative you have is of course to hire external resources, potentially, correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And that's not necessarily any less expensive than overtime, correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes.  It depends on the duration of the period that you need to hire the people for and so on.

MR. STEPHENSON:  That's one of the things that OPG, in fact, takes into account in determining whether or not it's going to do work via an allocation of overtime or through external resources, correct?  You do that exercise.

MS. LADAK:  Yes, exactly, yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Another alternative that you can do -- and let me back up.  A very significant proportion of your overall overtime expense is related to outages, correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And so another means by which you could manage this overtime issue is to simply assign less overtime, not hire new employees, and not get external resources, but take longer to do the outage.  Correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes.  You could, but again, there are a number of factors that have to come into account in terms of the lost revenue as a result of the outage, and so on.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And so if you've got -- if you're going to take longer to do an outage, your production forecast goes down and the payment amounts go up.  Correct?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's right.

MR. STEPHENSON:  So if we are simply focusing on the overtime line here, in the sense of what's your overtime bill, aren't we missing the picture, in terms of what consumers pay for OPG-generated power?

You have to look at what your aggregate costs are and what your production is, and those all play a role in this piece, not just the overtime line.

MS. LADAK:  Yes.  We consider all of those factors when we make decisions about incurring overtime.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me move to pensions for a minute.

MS. HARE:  Can I just interrupt for a second?  I find it interesting, Ms. Ladak, that you're answering these questions and not Mr. Fitzsimmons.  Doesn't this deal with an overall HR compensation strategy, as opposed to finance?

MS. LADAK:  Either of us could have answered those questions, just because I guess these -- the chart that we were looking at, I had prepared that chart.  So, yes, in terms of the policy and the use of overtime, that would be more a question actually for Ms. Earle.

MS. HARE:  Because I found it interesting that your answer to a number of the questions about overtime and options was "it could be, it could be", and I would have thought that you would have done an analysis -- somebody, maybe it is Ms. Earle, would have done an analysis and would be more definitive in the answers.

MS. LADAK:  Yeah, no, I would have to be -- I mean, we could go back to the specific questions.  I could respond to them again, but, yes, the number -- we do look at the factors.  We do incur overtime when it is cheaper to do so.  Overtime is related to nuclear and outages for the most part.  Pension costs are taken into account when you're looking at hiring additional staff, that type of thing.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Stephenson is getting at options in terms of hiring more people, or I guess next would be contract staff, that kind of thing.

Whose responsibility is that to look at those options? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Those are line management responsibilities.  I think with respect to answering the question about outages and some of the analysis that's done, that analysis is done upfront when they're looking at the scope of work in outages, and what will be considered there is the number of regular employees that can be redirected on to outages, the amount of overtime that is within the budgets that can be allocated, the use of temporary staff or peak staff for those outages, and how much of that resourcing we can handle within our infrastructure with respect to the amount of supervision that we have available.


And then following that, there's an amount that is put forward for contracting services in -- to assist with the peak work in outages.


And all of those things are assessed at the point where they're making decisions about how to resource outages accordingly. 


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.


Mr. Stephenson, sorry for the interruption. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Not at all.  Thank you.  Turning to pensions for a moment, the OPG pension plan is incorporated by reference into the PWU collective agreement; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's right. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  It's also incorporated by reference into the Society collective agreement; correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And both of those two collective agreements contain provisions -- they're similar, but I don't think exactly identical -- that say in effect that OPG cannot amend the provisions of the pension plan as it pertains to those groups of employees without the consent of the respective bargaining agent?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Well, given their incorporation into the collective agreement and by reference, any change that has to be made with respect to pensions is a matter of negotiations with the unions.  There is no ability to unilaterally change those provisions without the consent of the bargaining agents.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that reality -- that is, the incorporation into the collective agreement -- is something that has been in place for many, many years; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so all of the same considerations that we've already discussed with respect to bargaining power and collective bargaining outcomes and the reality that OPG faces there, come into play when we're talking about pensions as well; correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  There is not a different analysis; it is the same analysis?  This is just a subset of those issues; correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  It's the same analysis. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And if we -- I'm not asking you to look at it, but in terms of that chart that we looked at earlier about OPG's performance vis-à-vis the other Ontario Hydro successor companies -- you remember that chart, table 3?  All of those companies have a successor to the old Ontario Hydro pension plan; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And to your knowledge, the plan has stayed, in all of those successor companies, in more or less the same configuration as it exists with you; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And in terms of the relative richness -- if I can use that word -- the OPG pension plan has been criticized as being too rich.  And we will get to that in a minute, but all of those other plans are more or less in the same boat, give or take; fair? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's fair. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so none of those employers have succeeded in substantially reducing the richness of those plans?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Substantially, no.  There have been changes in the amounts of contribution increases that all employers, including OPG, have made over several years.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  And just on that point, back in 2009, as I understand it, in the bargaining at that point in time with the PWU, OPG succeeded in getting the PWU to agree to an increase in its member contributions to the plan; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct, yes. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that was an 11 percent increase in contribution rates; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Sorry, I'm not sure where that number, 11 percent, comes from.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, it is just arithmetic.  It went from 4 and a half percent of base income to 5?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And to go from -- in terms of dollars that the member would contribute, the number of dollars they contributed on an annual basis goes up by 11 percent? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No, Mr. Stephenson.  I don't agree with you on that. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  To get from 4 and a half to 5, that is an 11 percent increase.  Will you accept that math, subject to check? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Subject to check, sure.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, if the employee was spending -- contribution was $450 before, per year, and after, it went up to $500 per year, the number of dollars that the employee contributed went up by 11 percent; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And that wasn't the first increase that the OPG has, in fact, obtained out of the PWU.  There was a prior increase some number of years earlier.  They got another similar increase; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  The increases started in 2002, which was a half a percent increase on the contributions, moving from, at that time, 4 percent and 6 percent respectively. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right. 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Six percent respectively.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Then it went to 4 and a half and 6 and a half, and now it is at 5 and 7?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  So it is actually a 20 percent increase in terms of dollars that employees have contributed as a result of those increases; fair? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's fair. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, there has been lots of talk about the ratio of the contributions to the plan as between employees and employer.  And you're familiar with that discussion; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, I am.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And I just want to talk about how that comes about. 


The OPG pension plan is a traditional single employer pension plan; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And it is sponsored by the employer; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Which means, as a matter of law, that the employer is responsible to ensure that the plan is adequately funded; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that is a residual obligation at the end of the day.  After everything else has been done with the plan, the sponsor has this residual obligation to ensure adequate funding; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so the way that funding arises is the following.  And please correct me if I'm wrong. 


The first thing that happens is employees contribute whatever they are required to contribute pursuant to the provisions of the plan as embedded in the collective agreement; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's right.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And we have just talked about those kinds of numbers.  And that generates, to the plan, every year, X dollars, based on that formula; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's right. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  The second thing that happens -- and this happens completely independently -- is there is an actuarial analysis done of the current service cost; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that actuarial analysis is an attempt to figure out the total number of dollars that are required today to fund the pensions that are going to be paid downstream; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that has all of those considerations in there about discount rates; correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  It will have a forecast of, if I can call it, terminal compensation, because the benefits are paid upon a formula based upon somebody's last best couple of years or something like that, right?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, it is three years.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And so there has to be a forecast of what that number is likely to be, correct?


MS. EARLE:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And then mortality, you have to figure out how long the people are going to live, right?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And there is a bunch of other actuarial -- oh, there is a forecast investment performance.


MS. EARLE:  Absolutely.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Those are the main ones, I think, aren't they?


MS. EARLE:  I believe so.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And the actuaries will come up with a number in aggregate dollars that is required today to fund that future pension.  Correct?


MS. EARLE:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And then the employer's current service contribution is taken -- is derived arithmetically.  It is the difference between the current service cost on the one hand and the aggregate employee contributions on the other.  Correct?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so when you're engaged in collective bargaining, Mr. Fitzsimmons, there is no -- there's nothing in the collective agreement or in the pension plan that sets out a ratio of employee contributions and employer contributions.  Correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's right.


MR. STEPHENSON:  That number is -- can be --


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Sorry, we've got a chair malfunction.  Sorry about that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Not a problem.  Not a problem, sir.


The ratio is a number -- it's an output, correct?  It is something which can be arithmetically derived after the fact?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's right.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, we have heard about other pension plans and the ratio of the contributions that other plans have.


First off, let me just ask you this.  For traditional single employer pension plans, in the private sector -- and maybe this is for Professor Chaykowski -- it was not uncommon traditionally that they be non-contributory by the employees.  This is an employer-provided benefit.  You're familiar with that, aren't you, sir?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  You would see cases of that.  I mean, at the end of the day, if it's a unionized organization, it is subject to collective bargaining, and to the extent that the union can negotiate a situation where employees don't have to make a contribution, that will be their objective, and I would expect that to be the union objective.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But, I mean, even in non-organized workplaces, historically it was not uncommon that these plans be non-contributory.  At the banks, for example, Nortel, other firms, there were -- the employees simply made no contributions at all.  Are you familiar with that?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I wouldn't have specific examples at hand, but I would accept that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  There are -- maybe if I can just now, if I can, get you to turn up in the compendium at tab 6, there is a great big thick report.  And this is a report entitled "A Fine Balance:  Safe Pensions, Affordable Plans, Fair Rules from the Ex -- Report of the Expert Commission on Pensions", and we see that the author of the report is somebody by the name of Harry Arthurs.


Professor Chaykowski, can you tell us who Harry Arthurs is?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well, Professor Harry Arthurs is probably the most pre-eminent labour law scholar in Canada.  He has had a very illustrious career.  I believe, as I recall, he served as dean of the Osgoode Hall law school, was president of York University.


He has since retired.  I believe he is President Emeritus of York, if I am not mistaken, and he has served in a number of capacities in terms of government commissions, both federally and provincially, federally, not too long ago, in terms of a review of the Canada labour code with regard to the part dealing with industrial relations, and I believe labour standards -- sorry, not industrial relations, but labour standards, and for the provincial government, this report that you have included here.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I am not going to review the details of this with anybody, but, I mean, is it fair to say -- and I don't know, Professor Chaykowski, how familiar you are with the report, but, I mean, this is -- if somebody wants to do some -- get some contemporary knowledge of the state of pensions in Ontario, this is a good place to start; fair?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Oh, I think it would be an excellent place to start.  Professor Arthurs' work is extremely rigorous.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Can I just get you to turn up, panel, page 65?  And I am really doing this just as an organizational tool for the questions I am going to ask.


You will see a chart there.  Table 1, have you got that?  And this may be for you, Mr. Fitzsimmons.  But, you know -- so the top you see there is a line called "plan design", and there is a thing called JSPP, jointly sponsored pension plan.  Do you know what that is?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, I do.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that is a plan structure where the employer and trade union or employee group are the joint sponsors of the plan, correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And a key attribute of a jointly sponsored pension plan is that the responsibility for adequate funding of the plan is, as the name indicates, a joint one.  Correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so unlike the OPG pension plan, the buck doesn't stop with the employer.  It stops with the employer and the employees collectively, correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.  They're fiduciary to the plan.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And then the next group of -- and this chart tells you a little bit about the attributes of the plan, right?  That is consistent with your own knowledge, right, about how jointly sponsored pension plans work?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Then the next thing over is something called an MEPP, which I believe stands for multi-employer pension plan, correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And as I understand a multi-employer pension plan is that they are a particular subset of jointly sponsored pension plans in circumstances where you have a collection of employers that are acting together to fund pensions for a broader group of employees.  Correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's generally my understanding.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And again, the chart tells us that sometimes it's members only and sometimes it is joint with the sponsors in terms for governance, correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Let me just stop you about governance for a moment.  The governance is about setting the rules, including things like investment policy, correct?  That is what that is all about?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's right.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Under the OPG pension plan, OPG is solely responsible for governance, correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so the employees have no ability -- at least formal ability -- to affect things like investment policy.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so -- we will just leave it there.
And, sorry, with the multi-employer pension plan, again, there is a joint responsibility for ensuring sufficiency of funding, correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I think with any pension plan there's a responsibility for a sufficiency of funding.


MR. STEPHENSON:  No.  Joint responsibility, as opposed to employer only.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  If it is a jointly sponsored plan, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, all multi-employer plans are jointly sponsored, I think, aren't they?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I am actually not certain of that.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  I mean, they certainly are -- there is multiple employers that are --


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Multiple employers, correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Let me just turn to the issue of funding sufficiency.  Pension plans can either be in deficit, they can be in surplus, or they can be right on the mark; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that is an actuarial issue; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  What it means for a pension plan to be in deficit is that the current service contributions turned out to be too low, because the assumptions upon which those contributions were premised turned out to be wrong; correct?  They were proven wrong over time? 


MS. EARLE:  Generally, that's correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Either the investment performance wasn't as good as was forecast, or costs went up, or whatever?


MS. EARLE:  Or changes in some of the factors that we were speaking about earlier.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Discount rates changed; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  Correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  But similarly, for all of the exact same reasons, pensions can go into surplus; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And one of the factors -- the OPG plan is currently in deficit position; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  That is correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And when a pension plan goes into a deficit position, after a period of time the sponsor is required to make something called special payments; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And those payments are designed to ensure that the plan gets out of deficit over a prescribed period of time; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  That is correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Just to be clear about that, one of the things about pension plans that is important is that once a benefit under a pension plan is accrued, it cannot be reduced; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  That would be my understanding. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  In fact, it is unlawful?  It is prohibited by the Pension Benefits Act? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And special payments are, by definition, payments which are in respect of accrued benefits? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes.  That is correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  So special payments cannot be reduced under any circumstances?  It is unlawful; correct? 


I mean, once you have -- I appreciate there will be a schedule to make the payments, but beyond that? 


MS. EARLE:  Sorry, can you repeat that? 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  I think I asked that badly. 


I mean, one way you could, in theory, reduce a deficit would be to reduce future benefits; correct?  In theory? 


MS. EARLE:  In theory. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.  But in fact, that is unlawful?  You can't do that?


MS. EARLE:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And you can't even do it, even if the union agreed?  It is simply prohibited by law? 


MS. EARLE:  I'm not sure I know for certain. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now, I want to deal with the flip side. 


If a pension plan is in surplus, once the surplus reaches a certain point, the sponsor is entitled to take a contribution holiday; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so what a contribution holiday means is that, in this case, the employer, sponsor, reduces its current service contributions in whole or in part; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  Correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so if a pension plan is in surplus and if the employer takes a contribution holiday, tell me, what is the ratio between the employee contributions and the employer contributions? 


MS. EARLE:  I'm not certain that it would necessarily always be the same. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, the answer is it is infinite, isn't it?  That the employees continue to contribute, and the employer contribution is zero? 


MS. EARLE:  There is an option for employee contribution holidays as well. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough, but that would -- presumably that would be only -- could occur if the employer agreed, right?  Because the employee contributions are determined and embedded in the collective agreement? 


MS. EARLE:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  So the employer could insist that the employees continue to contribute, even if the employer's contributing zero; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that would be correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  If we're interested in ratios, in that case the ratio of the employee contribution to the employer contribution is infinite, because the employer contribution is zero? 


MS. EARLE:  Under that scenario. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And frankly, if -- we know that long-term -- the discount rate is determined by long-term interest rates, broadly speaking; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And long-term interest rates are at absolute historic lows; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that has driven, to a very significant degree, the fact that the plan is currently in deficit; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  It's one of the factors, absolutely.


MR. STEPHENSON:  If long-term interest rates increase by as little as 1 percent, I take it that that will radically affect the position of the OPG pension plan vis-à-vis its current deficit; correct? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes.  The change in discount rates can have a significant impact on the plan.  Correct. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  But in fact, if there was even a 1 percent increase in the long-term interest rate, the surplus would disappear virtually overnight? 


MS. EARLE:  I don't know that I can confirm that, but yes, it would be a significant factor.


MR. STEPHENSON:  In fact, this is in your actuarial report, I take it?  That is one of the sensitivities your actuary looks at?


MS. EARLE:  Yes.  We would take that, subject to check, yes. 


MR. SMITH:  I should advise this is -- Ms. Earle is able to deal with the high-level questions, but the specific dollars, the sensitivities, those sorts of questions, we did advise parties in our schedule of panel responsibilities that section 6.3 of item 5(4) of OPG's evidence will be dealt with by the finance panel.  They're the panel responsible for actually calculating the amount of OPG's pension cost.


So I am just heading Mr. Stephenson off.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I'm not going any further on this.


MR. SMITH:  And it's Exhibit 5, 4, tab 3, schedule 1.  section 6.3 of that deals specifically with pension and other pension –- post-employment benefit costs. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  One last item, and that is, panel, an earlier panel made a reference to the fact that there was some form of review, sectoral review going on regarding pensions in the electricity sector in Ontario. 


If I could ask you to turn up at tab 5 of my compendium -- I guess it is tab E, actually.  Yes. 


And it is an excerpt here from the 2014 Ontario budget, page 156.  Have you got that? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes, we've got it.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  You will see there a reference to the fact that in January 2014 the government appointed Jim Leech, former CEO of Ontario Teachers' Pension Plan, as special advisor, electricity sector pension sustainability. 


I take it you were aware of that initiative? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And you will see that in the last paragraph there, the indication is that Mr. Leech has completed his report and delivered it to the government.


And I take it that you were aware of that fact?  I mean, you were certainly aware of it when the budget came out?


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And I take it that by virtue of the election being called over the budget and the subsequent election, I take it you don't have any -- this is as far as the matter stands, to your knowledge? 


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And so is it fair to assume that the matter is now in the government's hands? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that's fair.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And am I right that this -- whatever Mr. Leech was doing, this is what it says it is.  This was something that would be not just OPG-focussed, but focussed, broadly speaking, on all of the Ontario Hydro successors and maybe others? 


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  One moment.  Those are my questions.  Thank you very much, panel.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. HARE:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.


so we will take our morning break now, and we will return at five after 11.


--- Recess taken at 10:45 a.m.

--- On resuming at 11:10 a.m.


MS. HARE:  Please be seated. 


Okay.  Mr. Millar, you're up next cross-examining? 

Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


Good morning, panel.  My name is Michael Millar.  I am counsel for Board Staff.


You should have a compendium that was prepared by Board Staff.  It was provided to OPG.  I believe the panel has copies.  We have some spares here if anybody needs one.


I propose to call that Exhibit K8.1.
EXHIBIT NO. K8.1:  BOARD STAFF CROSS-EXAMINATION COMPENDIUM for panel 5.


MR. MILLAR:  Much of it is material already on the record; there are a few things that are not.  But it was all provided to OPG on Friday. 


Unfortunately, I tinkered with my cross a little bit over the weekend, so we're going to be skipping through the compendium because I didn't want to change the order of the pages there.  So I will hope you will bear with me.


Why don't we get warmed up with a discussion of the numbers overall, so we can place this discussion in the context of the greater application?


Could I ask you to turn to page 58, please, of the Staff compendium?  This is the celebrated JT2.33 undertaking from the technical conference.  I picked the smallest font I could find, to make sure we're all paying attention today.


So why don't we start at the very bottom, line 46?  I just want to get a handle on the numbers that we're talking about for the test period. 


Am I right in saying that if you look over to the 2014 and 2015 plans for the test year, we're at about $1.7 billion in each of those years for total compensation costs?  Is that right? 


MS. LADAK:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  If I look up to line 33, your total staff numbers for the test period are -- this is on a full-time equivalent basis –- 9,566 for 2014 and 9,395 for 2015? 


MS. LADAK:  Yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  And as we have discussed in -- with some previous panels, OPG is looking to shed about 1,100 people from the regulated business between 2010 and 2015? 


MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  You're pretty much on track to do that; is that right?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  By a very rough calculation, that would be something like 10 percent of the work force?  Of the --


MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's -- sorry.  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, that was a yes?


MS. LADAK:  Yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Sorry to interrupt you.


If we look at line 46, back to 46 again, there's been some discussion of this already, but can you confirm for me that even accounting for these full-time equivalent reductions, you will be paying more for compensation in 2015 than you paid in 2010?  Is that right? 


MS. LADAK:  That's correct.  And this is an all-in compensation cost, which includes labour, wages, salaries, pension.


MR. MILLAR:  It's the works, right? 


MS. LADAK:  It's the works, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  If you could flip to page 61 of the compendium, this is the helpful chart prepared by Mr. Shepherd.


On an all-in compensation per employee level, can you confirm for me that for management -- this is from 2010 to 2015 -- you're up about 7.3 percent?  And I am just looking at the numbers from this chart.  Is that right?  Per full-time equivalent for management, that is line 38 all the way over to the right-hand column?


MS. LADAK:  I'm going to turn up my copy of this.  Just a moment. 


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, of course. 


If it assists, all I was going to do is walk through the --


MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's right.  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So for management it is about 7.3 percent, for your Society folks it was 16.3, about, for the Power Workers' Union, 26.1.


Then these poor folks at the EPSCA are down 10.25 percent.  What is the EPSCA?  Could you remind me? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  These are -- these would capture temporary trades workers, who are employed and referred through the respective building trade unions.  EPSCA stands for the Electrical Power Sector Construction Association. 


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I hope they don't take offence at this, but I am not just going to focus on them just because there are relatively few of them and it's not a lot of money overall, but I just wanted to cross off who they were.  And they are, in fact, getting a compensation decrease over this time.


I think we will get into this in more detail later, but we heard from Mr. Barrett the other day, and I think in your cross-examination from Mr. Stephenson this morning, that probably the biggest driver that explains why your total compensation level is going up even though your employees are going down, it all comes down to pensions; is that fair? 


MS. LADAK:  Yes, in terms of total compensation, wages are going down as a result of headcount reductions.  But as a result of pension increases, due to, largely, discount rate changes, total compensation is going up. 


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But pensions are a part of compensation, right?  You are seeking to recover all the money for those pensions? 


MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  I wanted to have sort of a general discussion on your -- OPG's philosophy, if I can put it that way, with respect to collective -- not necessarily collective bargaining, but how you pay all of your workers, whether they be unionized or not.


Can I ask you this:  Is it your goal to pay your employees the market rate?  Would that be a fair assertion?  And we might have some discussion over what that market rate is, but generally, is it fair to say you're looking to pay a market rate for your labour? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  That would be true whether they're management, unionized, non-unionized, whomever.


MS. EARLE:  It would be fair to say that that would be a goal of our compensation policy at this point, which I will also say is included in the evidence, prefiled evidence.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Thank you for that.  Would you also accept that that's really what the Board's task is?  It is to approve your compensation costs to the extent that they reflect the appropriate market? 


MS. EARLE:  Again, we may disagree on what the appropriate market is, but I would --


MR. MILLAR:  We will discuss that, and I don't want to put words in your mouth, but just as a general proposition, you would accept that?


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Subject to, obviously, a disagreement as to what is involved under section 78.1 and what is required in setting payment amounts, Mr. Millar.  I don't want to take that as acceptance of the Board's jurisdiction in any particular matter. 


MR. MILLAR:  I don't know what that means, but I am going to move on.


MS. HARE:  Well, I am glad you said that, because I didn't understand what you were saying either.  So maybe you could elaborate, please. 


MR. SMITH:  Well, what I mean by that is the Board's responsibility is to set payment amounts under section 78.1.  There are obviously -- and there is the current case that deals with what setting payment amounts, as it relates to committed costs, involves.


And I didn't want the answer to be taken to be that a Board determination that current costs -- that the current median or benchmark for costs is, say, X amount for 2014 and that means that compensation costs for 2014 must be X.


That is the very issue that is in dispute at the Supreme Court, and obviously that will have to be reflected in our submission, in the Board's decision.  But the appropriate analysis, as we understand it and as set out in the court's decision, is:  What costs are committed for the test period?  What costs are truly forecast?  And that may or may not be at market or not.


That is the simple observation I was making. 


MR. MILLAR:  I disagree with much of what he has just said, but I am going to move on. 


So looking now at collective agreements, you would agree with me that the fact that you have to collectively bargain is a -- it is an important driver of your compensation costs? 


MS. EARLE:  Absolutely. 


MR. MILLAR:  But would you agree with me that the collective agreements are not -- they're not the only driver of your costs?


For example, the number of staff you have is not directly governed by the collective agreements; is that correct? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  There's no prescribed complement, if you will, in the collective agreements, but the collective agreements chiefly dictate how much flexibility we have with respect to our staffing.


They are fairly restrictive with respect to the amount of work that can be contracted out, limitations with respect to flexibility in shift scheduling and hours of work and the like.  They determine various restrictions, in terms of the numbers of hours of work that employees can be committed to in the form of work schedules or shift schedules as the case may be.


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  But it doesn't say you must have X amount of employees.  It doesn't say you have to have 9,000 employees in the test period.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  You have in fact been quite successful in reducing your, both head count and full-time equivalents over the last three or four years?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And as I understand it -- maybe I'm wrong about this -- but the collective agreement will set what I call the salary bands.  I'm not sure if that is the right term or not.  But it doesn't set, at least on a numerical basis, the number of people that might be in any one of those bands.  Is that right?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  It doesn't provide a prescriptive number, but certainly the classifications that employees are employed into are fit within each of the -- within each of the pay bands.


So, for example, you know, a junior engineer would be within one of the pay bands within the Society collective agreement.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I understand.  I think all I'm saying is that when you signed the collective agreement it doesn't say you will have 312 employees in band X.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And that will affect the costs that you actually have to pay, right?  If they're in a higher band they make more money; if they're in a lower band they make less money.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And also, with respect to overtime, subject to what you said about, you have requirement -- first there be a Canadian Nuclear Safety Commission requirements, all sort of things that you actually have to get done, but the collective agreement doesn't say you will have 3,000 hours of overtime in 2014; is that fair?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  You would have some flexibility there?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's right.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And of course, although you're largely unionized, you have quite a few non-unionized employees as well.  Those would chiefly be managers, but I understand you have a few other non-unionized employees; is that correct?


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And their compensation costs would not be affected by the collective agreements; is that fair?  They're not covered by the collective agreements?


MS. EARLE:  Correct.  They are not covered by the collective agreement.


MR. MILLAR:  Just to give us a ballpark number on that -- you can go back to page 58 if you like, but I understand from line 42 of that exhibit in the test year, it is approximately $235 million in each of the years for what you describe as management?  That is line 42?


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


MS. HARE:  Can I just interrupt for a second?  I'm sorry to do this, Mr. Millar.  But Ms. Earle, you hesitated in answering.  When we have had other distributors come and tell us that management kind of follows, in terms of the increase, what the unionized employees get -- so Mr. Millar asked you that management isn't affected by the collective agreement, and that is when you hesitated.  Can you expand on that?


MS. EARLE:  Sure, thank you.


And his follow-up question was, they are not governed by the collective agreement and to that I --


MS. HARE:  Right.  Then you --


MS. EARLE:  -- agree, but you're absolutely right.  To a large extent the management group would follow, in that we all work for the same organization.  So they are certainly affected by the salary scales that are negotiated within the collective agreements, and management group being sort of the first level above any of our unionized staff.  In order to avoid compression issues, those types of things, we need to make sure that the management compensation structure is, however it is defined, aligned with what the unions are able to negotiate within their collective agreements.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Maybe "governed" was the better question, so I apologize for that.


There would be other differences as well, though, right?  For example, you can fire a manager without cause.


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And you can't do that typically for a unionized employee?


MS. EARLE:  Correct.  Typically.


MR. MILLAR:  And that just gets back to the fact that you acknowledged off the top that collective bargaining imposes some burdens on you that you might not have if it wasn't a collective bargaining environment.


MS. EARLE:  We have more flexibility with management group employees; that is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  So I want to talk a bit about collective bargaining in Ontario and Canada.  And maybe I will start with some questions for you, Dr. Chaykowski.


Could I ask you to turn to page 87 of our compendium?  And that is where I have taken some extracts from your report.  And right at the top there, in bold, and this is -- I think you're summarizing one of the sections from your report -- it says:

"Consequently, the main guiding principles of Ontario labour policy as embodied in the various labour relations legislation support, first, the public interest in ensuring good labour relations and the rights of association of BPS employees..."


BPS is broader public service; is that correct?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Broader public sector; that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, broader public sector.


Then the second -- I guess the second guiding principle you have listed is:

"The public interest in maintaining the continuous provision of BPS services that are to varying degrees essential or, at the least, of very high importance to the welfare and well-being of the public."


So that is your summary of the guiding principles; is that correct?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Those are two of the main guiding principles that summarize some of the discussion that is previous to this page in my report, yes, section 3.1.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  You didn't list any other main guiding principles?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Those are, in my view, two of the main, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, let me ask this question then.  I don't see anything in these guiding principles that you have chosen to put in that relates to cost.  Is there a public interest in ensuring that broader public sector services are provided at a reasonable cost?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Yes.  I would think that there is more generally.  I was referring here to the main guiding principles of Ontario industrial relations policy.


MR. MILLAR:  So cost is not one of the guiding principles for industrial labour relations policy?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I don't think that in the history of the development of Canadian labour relations policy, generally, that's been a particularly big issue.  I think they leave that -- policy-makers tend to want to leave that to the parties to figure out.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, in this case, OPG happens to be regulated, and they have to come to the Board -- I'm very sorry about my throat.  I have a frog in here for some reason.  Pardon me.  OPG has to come to the Board to get approval for their costs.  So is it the Board's job to ensure reasonable costs then?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  That's probably outside my area of expertise.  What I could offer as an observation is that that is, as I understand the process, that is something that the parties will work out between themselves, and of course it is a regulated industry, so obviously the Board has a hand in that as well.  But if I take -- if I understand your question correctly, it is not a matter of industrial relations policy per se, I wouldn't think.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, why not?  Lots of broader public sector areas are not regulated, but they are paid for by the taxpayer.  So is there no interest in preserving the rights of taxpayers?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well, again, it is an interesting issue.  The government sort of wears two hats in some broader public sector industries.  It wears a hat as policy-maker that sets the playing field for industrial relations, and that is what I'm referring to here in what you have quoted.


But it wears another hat, which is either as employer directly, if you're a government employee for the Government of Ontario or the Government of Canada, or indirectly as a payer.


So in health services you have even private sector organizations which receive public funding, and so obviously the government, you know, sort of wearing that hat has an interest in the cost efficiencies.


But I'm making a clear distinction here between labour relations policy on the one hand and the other hat that the government wears as either direct employer or as an indirect financer.


MR. MILLAR:  And in this case it is sort of the Board that plays that role; is that --


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well --


MR. MILLAR:  If that is beyond your expertise, that's fine.


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  It's beyond my expertise.


MR. MILLAR:  Let's flip the next page to 88, please, the next page in the compendium.


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I want to look at what the objectives of the parties in a collective agreement negotiation are at OPG.


And from the Union's perspective, whether it is Power Workers' Union or the Society, you stated that the main objective -- their main objective will be to increase wages.  Is that right?  That is the first line under 4.2?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  One of the main objectives, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, okay.  If you look at the footnote down in 14, you describe Canadian unions.  You say they're generally characterized as business unions.  Is that correct?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Yes.  That's a general characterization.


MR. MILLAR:  So they're not -- and the way you explain that here is they're not really looking at social -- they don't have a social or political agenda.  They would operate like a union might in the private sector.  They want to increase the wages, benefits, what have you, for their members; is that fair? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  That's correct.  They have primarily an economic focus, but I would stress primarily, because they obviously have social and political aspects to their agendas.


But I am trying to draw out a contrast between unions in North America.  And you've given the example of private sector unions, which I think is appropriate, which have primarily an economic focus through collective bargaining, versus, for example, some of the European unions that have very much a political and social focus.


And a prime example of that, just to illustrate, would have been Solidarity in Poland, which had a very strong social/political movement aspect to it.


So that's really the context in which I'm describing unions here. 


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.  Let's look at OPG.  They're the other party to this -- to the collective negotiations, if I can call them that.


What's their chief objective in collective bargaining? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I am not in a position --


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I can answer that, Mr. Millar.  Our objective in collective bargaining is, obviously, to contain our costs and to reduce costs where possible. 


MR. MILLAR:  Dr. Chaykowski, looking at the broader public sector, would that statement generally be true of, for example, governments or whomever might be negotiating with unions in the public sector? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well, I think that's often a main objective.  But again, there may be a variety of objectives that they bring to the table, and it would vary by employer, by sector and by circumstance. 


MR. MILLAR:  Why is it in OPG's interest to limit compensation increases?  Why is that OPG's objective? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  To achieve our goal, as a public power producer, as being the low-cost energy producer in the province. 


MR. MILLAR:  What happens if you're unable to keep compensation costs down?  I shouldn't say keep them down. 


Imagine, as a hypothetical, you failed in your negotiations and you paid more than you had to for labour.  What would the repercussions of that be? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Those costs would have to be passed on to the ratepayers. 


MR. MILLAR:  So why does OPG care about that? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Because our mandate is to produce low-cost electricity for the province. 


MR. MILLAR:  It doesn't come out -- at least in your framework, it wouldn't come out of the bottom line of OPG?  It would be passed on to ratepayers? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Both, I suppose. 


MR. MILLAR:  Dr. Chaykowski, still with you, maybe we could turn to page 89 of the compendium.


There is some discussion in your report about appropriate comparators for OPG.  And I think the word we heard on Friday was "patterning"; did I hear that correctly? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  That term did definitely come up, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I think of all that as another word for benchmarking, essentially.  Maybe a narrower form of benchmarking than others might endorse, but essentially if you're looking at patterning or comparing OPG with other businesses, that is a form of benchmarking; is that fair? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I'm not sure that that's quite accurate.  I tend to think of benchmarking as, often, a human resource management compensation-type exercise. 


Patterning, really, in this context, is a labour relations term, is the way in which I am using it.  And I think it is the way in which it was used on Friday. 


It is really looking at a relevant, comparable comparator in the collective bargaining world.  And I think I gave the example of the collective bargaining unit across the street kind of thing, with the similar union, similar workers, similar line of business, et cetera. 


So, you know, I think that there are some important differences between the two.  And when I think of benchmarking, I think of looking at job-to-job comparisons from within one organization out into the market generally.


So I think they are different. 


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Well, that's helpful.  You concluded in your report, I think -- at least I guess we will call them comparators, but you determined that the two most appropriate ones are Hydro One and Bruce; is that right? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  That's right.


MR. MILLAR:  Those would be the closest -- can I use the word "comparator"?  Is that a fair word to use? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I think that's fair.


MR. MILLAR:  Mr. Stephenson provided -- I think this was in the evidence as well, but do you have his compendium still? 


MS. LADAK:  I think we've got it. 


MR. MILLAR:  He provided Arbitrator Albertyn's decision, most recent decision on the Society.  That is at tab C, as I have it, of his compendium.  You'll recall that discussion? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  If we look at page 16 --


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I don't have that yet. 


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  We may be able to pull it up on the... on the screen.  This is just the compendium that Mr. Stephenson was referring to earlier today. 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Page 16, I have it.  Yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  Does the Panel have it as well?  We have it on the screen if you need it. 


So at least for the purposes of this arbitration, and maybe it is -- there are different considerations.  I'm not sure.  It looks like Mr. -- I already forget his name.  Albertyn?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Albertyn, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Albertyn, I'm sorry.  Used different comparators, if I can put it that way.  He used seven instead of two, and Hydro One's not there. 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Right.  And so, you know, I don't know the -- I have read the report.  I read the Albertyn decision.  And I am aware that his ADG list is different than my list of Bruce and Hydro One. 


And I can't speak to the rationale for precisely why Mr. Albertyn generated this list, but my best conclusion is that given the particular point in time in which this decision was coming out, which was roughly -- I am just trying to turn to the front here -- 2013, early 2013, he was reaching out to find recent agreements that were sort of contemporaneous with the situation in which he -- was before him.


So he would come up with this list, and I would assume that Hydro One was not currently in negotiations or had not currently concluded a collective agreement.  Put it that way.  And so that may be one reason why Hydro One wasn't on the list. 


But in general, I think that this is a relevant list.  I don't have a quarrel with that.  It's always an issue of one's assessment.  I like to be fairly precise, so I narrowed it down to two.  If I had to go to an extended list, I would probably include some of these as well.


But some of these are much smaller organizations as well, as I understand it.  So I think that as relevant comparators, they're in the ballpark, but not, you know, right tightly within the, you know -- the diamond, as it were.


MR. MILLAR:  So different people in the field might come up with different lists; is that fair? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I think they would, but, you know, in looking at Albertyn's award, he's very clear that the criteria that he uses for comparators would be, you know, I think virtually the same, identical with the perspective that I have on what happens in the industry.  I don't think there is any difference. 


MR. MILLAR:  Well, the list is different.  I guess the underlying philosophy is the same; is that what you're saying? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Yes, absolutely.  I mean, as I said, I wouldn't have a problem going to an expanded list, but my short list of two, I think, is very focussed.


MR. MILLAR:  One of the --


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Mr. Millar, if I may, in the Albertyn decision -- to maybe assist in answering your question -- if you go to page 17, at paragraph 35 -- and this may just offer some perspective into the views of arbitrators.


Starting at paragraph 35, and this is following introduction of our evidence with respect to some other settlements that had gone on within the broader public sector at the time, you will see from that that Mr. Albertyn concludes -- and other arbitrators have considered this in the past -- that the most relevant external comparators are those in the energy sector. 


And so when we are in the midst of collective bargaining, with a view to potentially what the outcome is, and if we wound up in an interest arbitration, we're thinking about what arbitrators are most likely to consider in the circumstances, and that is certainly reflected in Mr. Albertyn's award.


MR. MILLAR:  One of the comparators that they used, and Mr. Stephenson pointed out, is in fact this Board, the Ontario Energy Board, which happens -- some of its staff are represented by the Society.  Not me personally, but many of the staff here are.


And he in fact provided you with extracts from that decision, and I couldn't quite figure out why he did that, but do you have tab -- if you could turn to tab D, and then page 44.  This is what he provided, and the only thing I can figure that he was after here is to point out that Board Staff was under a wage freeze for three years prior to 2013?  I don't know what page it is of the PDF, unfortunately, but if you have tab D at page 44.


You see the salary grid?  There is 2010, and then the next one doesn't kick in until 2013, so I'm assuming he just wanted to point out there was a wage freeze.  But I notice that that information didn't make it into Mr. Albertyn's decision.  He talks about the increases, but there is no mention of wage freezes before that.


Do you know anything about that?  I know that you didn't write the decision, of course, but do you have any intelligence on that?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No.  With respect to this particular agreement, no.  I would understand from looking at it anyway with the period that's involved, from 2010 to 2014, that the government direction would have been the same as many other agencies were under at the relevant time.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.


Just finally on page 16, again, of Mr. Albertyn's decision, where we were, where he went through his list of comparators -- I don't know if you have to turn it up, but one of the comparators was the Electrical Safety Authority?  Do you recall that?  I think you probably have it in front of you.  It is G.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  They actually -- it talks about some increases they got in wages, but it also notes that there were substantial increases in their employee contribution to the ESA's -- the Electrical Safety Authority's pension plan.  Do you see that?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, I do.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you happen to know anything about that?  I'm not necessarily expecting that you would, but do you know any of the details?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Off the top of my head I don't have the exact figures, but I know that there were some contribution increases that have been -- that have been made.  I am more familiar with the increases at Hydro One.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.  Hydro One is not there.  Do you know why Hydro One is not there?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  In this comparator?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Consistent with what Mr. Chaykowski had said, Hydro One was coming out of a long-term agreement.  At the relevant time of collective bargaining Hydro One would have been in the negotiation of their renewal collective agreement that expired at the end of 2012.  So they would have been -- they would have been renewing their agreement in 2013.


MR. MILLAR:  Thanks.  Dr. Chaykowski, we discussed a few moments ago the -- I guess the differences as you described them between benchmarking and this looking at comparators or patterning, as you might call it.


It is fair to say that you were not hired to do a benchmarking study; is that right?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  And in fact, OPG hired someone else to do a benchmarking study?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I don't know.


MR. MILLAR:  You're not familiar with the Aon Hewitt report that was filed?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I am.  If that is what you're referring to, I guess they did.


MR. MILLAR:  I am.  Sorry, I wasn't trying to be mysterious.


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I don't...


MR. MILLAR:  You're familiar that report has been filed.  You would consider that a benchmarking analysis?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  To the best of my recollection, I would, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  And Dr. Chaykowski, a final question for you, at least for now.  The purpose of your study -- if I understand it -- was not actually to come up with a number or dollar amount that OPG should -- that it would be appropriate for OPG to spend on compensation in any given year; is that right?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  You look at the overall context, some of the challenges they face, perhaps some of their comparators, but first of all, you would accept that there would be a bunch of OPG's compensation costs that are not covered in a collective agreement, as I went over with Ms. Earle earlier?

DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I would think that that's the case, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And that indeed was not the purpose of your study, was not to come up with a number OPG should be paying for compensation in any given year?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  Again, still on collective bargaining -- and I think these questions are probably more for the OPG witnesses, but of course, Dr. Chaykowski, if something twigs your interest, don't hesitate to jump in.


We have already discussed that collective bargaining makes it more difficult for you to control your labour costs, and I think you agreed with that.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And I want to get a better handle on exactly how the collective bargaining regime works.  I have never personally been involved, so I think this would be an education for me.


Let's just take the Power Workers' Union as an example.  And let's say you're going into your negotiations with them.  Who are the parties to that negotiation?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  OPG and the Power Workers.


MR. MILLAR:  And I think as we discussed a little bit earlier, the feeling behind collective bargaining is that each party is there to represent its own interests; is that fair?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  So the Power Workers will represent its members, and OPG -- I guess it is OPG management that does the negotiations; is that right?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  You're there to represent OPG's shareholder?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  That's the interest -- the chief interest you are charged with protecting.


Could you turn to page 4 of the compendium, please.  This is the memorandum of agreement that was entered between the shareholder and OPG.  And it is not numbered, but the purpose statement, the second paragraph of that, which is close to the top, says:

"OPG will operate as a commercial enterprise with an independent board of directors, which will at all times exercise its fiduciary responsibility and a duty of care to act in the best interests of OPG."


So I think that is pretty much saying what we have just discussed; is that right, Mr. Fitzsimmons?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  In these negotiations, who is at the table to represent the interests of ratepayers?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  OPG.


MR. MILLAR:  So OPG -- and I think in fairness you discussed this a little bit earlier.  Do they have a dual role?  Are they there to act in both the interests of the shareholder and the interest of the ratepayer?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And to the extent that those roles conflicted, which one would trump?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I think whenever we're in collective bargaining representing anybody's interests, there are certainly conflicts with respect to the potential outcomes.


As Mr. Stephenson was discussing with me and questioning me about our ability to move and reduce wages, and my response to him was that that would likely result in a collective bargaining impasse and a strike.  I am not certain that that would be in any party's interest in taking some of those positions.


MR. MILLAR:  So --


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  We certainly have, you know, conflicts in this regime and operating in a unionized environment.


MR. MILLAR:  Are the goals and objectives of the shareholder -- would they always be identical to the goals of a ratepayer?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  In terms of producing low-cost energy?  I mean, that's -- I mean, that would be -- our objective is to produce low-cost power to the province.  I am not sure how that is misaligned.


MR. MILLAR:  That is not your only goal, right?  You want to give a dividend to your shareholder where you can?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  And make a reasonable return, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  That would be another goal?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  For example, those goals aren't entirely compatible, right?  I'm not saying you can't find a way, but you could decline to give a dividend, for example, and lower rates that way to provide power more cheaply, if you decided to take a cut on your hourly rate.  That would be a possibility, right?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I'm not familiar with how money is transferred in that respect.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I think we've heard from you there are no ratepayer groups actually at the table for negotiations.  I understand that.  Does OPG do any type of consultation with any of the ratepayer groups before it goes into negotiations, to talk to them at all?  Is that part of your preparations for negotiation? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Not that I'm aware of. 


MR. MILLAR:  Is it fair to say that no one, other than OPG and the union, are privy to the actual negotiations?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Unless there was a breakdown in negotiations, and then obviously there is a third party who is privy to the negotiations. 


MR. MILLAR:  That's a fair point.  Thank you for that.  But you don't conduct these negotiations in public, obviously?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Whatever happens there is known to you and it's known to the Power Workers, and possibly an arbitrator or a mediator or something like that, but it's not known to any of the ratepayer groups; is that right? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Not known to the Board? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  It is known to you?  So would you agree with me, in that light, that when the Board tries to assess the reasonableness of your labour costs, it pretty much has to look at the end result?  Is that a fair statement? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's a fair statement.


MR. MILLAR:  Like, we couldn't go in and we couldn't say when you made offer A, you should have sweetened the pot or you should have tried to pull this and that out.  We don't know what happens in those negotiations.  We simply can't comment on that; is that a fair statement? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  And again, I think you would agree with me that it's the job of OPG's management to conduct the actual negotiations on behalf of OPG.  That's not the OEB's job; that is management's job? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's right. 


MR. MILLAR:  Just as a bit of a thought exercise or a comparative exercise, I want to discuss what happens in the private unregulated and competitive sector with respect to collective bargaining, and how that might be different from what you do. 


Just imagine, if you will, that there is a unionized company.  Let's just say it is a steel company, something like that.  It doesn't matter, but it is an unregulated industry, or at least unregulated in the sense that they don't have rates set for them.  It is a competitive business, where they're trying to sell steel, I guess. 


And they're unionized and they enter into a collective agreement with their union.  Management gets a bad deal, for whatever reason, and they end up paying more than their competitors for labour. 


What would the results be of that, in the private unregulated sector?  And, Dr. Chaykowski, if you have an opinion on that, I would like to hear that as well.  What happens? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  It would really depend on the degree of competitiveness of the industry that you're talking about, whether there are a large number of steel producers or whether the industry is fairly monopolized and --


MR. MILLAR:  Assume it is a competitive industry.


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Assuming it is a very competitive industry, well, you know, if labour costs are inordinately high at that particular organization relative to others, they would be at a -- probably be at competitive disadvantage vis-à-vis their competitors in the product market.


MR. MILLAR:  And what would that mean?  What would that mean?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  It may mean -- ultimately it may mean that they -- assuming that you have -- you're assuming standard product quality and all of those sorts of things, that they may lose market share.


But again, you know, it depends on a number of other factors, such as the degree of unionization in the industry, and so on and so forth.


MR. MILLAR:  All else being equal, would it be fair to say they would take a hit on their profit, at minimum? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  It could. 


MR. MILLAR:  What happens to OPG if they pay too much for labour? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I am in no position to answer that. 


MS. LADAK:  We'd take a hit on our profit as well.  I will just go back to earlier.  There was a discussion with Mr. Fitzsimmons about:  Do we pass all of our costs on to ratepayers?


We actually try to absorb the costs, and we don't recover all of the costs either.  So, like, for example, when we did our recent impact statement, we put all of the costs as part of our update. 


So we do take a hit on our income as well. 


MR. MILLAR:  How much of your costs didn't make it into the update? 


MS. LADAK:  I don't have the exact numbers with me.  I would have to take a look at -- the next panel actually has that type of information when they talk about the update statement.


MR. MILLAR:  Compared to the $1.7 billion for compensation, is it a material number?  If you don't know, that's fine.


MS. LADAK:  No, it wouldn't be material. 


MR. MILLAR:  Okay. 


MS. HARE:  I am not actually sure what we're talking about.  Are you talking about the cost of doing the update?  Or your impact statement didn't reflect the true costs? 


MS. LADAK:  In the impact statement we made some reductions for pension costs.  We also made -- we said our costs had gone up in some areas.  We did not reflect them in the application.


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, it is reflected in the first impact statement, N1-1-1.  And I believe the number is $33 million.


And that can be spoken to by the finance panel. 


MS. HARE:  Okay, but what you're telling us is that you already took a cut in what you were asking for? 


MS. LADAK:  That's correct. 


MS. HARE:  Thank you. 


MR. MILLAR:  Well, let's talk about your most recent rounds of collective negotiations with your two main unions.  First, let's just talk about where we are right now.


The PWU currently has a contract, collective agreement that you reached with them, that covers, I think it is, April 2012 to March 2015; is that right? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  This was negotiated -- a negotiated agreement?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And so by my math, it covers approximately 60 percent of the test period.  Would you take that, subject to check?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Subject to check, sure. 


MR. MILLAR:  And then the collective agreement with the Society runs for the entire test period.  I think it's January 2013 until the end of 2015?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And this was, as we've already discussed, not a negotiated settlement; it was an arbitrated settlement? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  Can we go to page 7 of the compendium, please?


I want to talk a bit more about the extent to which you use benchmarking to either inform or assist your collective negotiations. 


Page 7 at line 20 -- this is under "OPG's approach to collective bargaining" -- you state, the first sentence there:

"OPG begins with a review of the external labour relations landscape."


Do you see that? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I sort of think of that as benchmarking, but maybe I'm wrong.  After I heard from Dr. Chaykowski.  Do you consider that to be benchmarking or something else?  Or a form of benchmarking?  Maybe we're getting too hung up on the actual word. 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  It is an assessment.  You could use the term "benchmarking."


MR. MILLAR:  And then this isn't really for your panel, but I don't know the extent to which you listened to what we went over with the last panel, but in terms of business planning for nuclear operations overall, are you aware that OPG makes extensive use of benchmarking? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  And I think if you look at page 8, this is from that previous panel, but you will see line 16, this is one of the first things that OPG does in assessing the gap between it and its peers.  That was part of the gap-based planning approach.


I know this isn't really your evidence, so -- but are you generally familiar with that? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  Did you hear the discussion, for example, on the measures like total generating costs, things like that?  I know this isn't the panel for that, but are you generally familiar with those broad key metrics that OPG benchmarks itself against?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Generally, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  For total generating costs, would you agree with me that -- I would think that the largest component of that on the cost side would be compensation.  I might be wrong about that, but we could probably agree that compensation would be a very big driver of that measure? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let's look at some of the benchmarking that you did do.  Mr. Stephenson covered some of this with you, and I think that the previous panel might have discussed this as well.  And it came up in the technical conference. 


But just to be clear, certainly you're familiar with the Scott Madden reports? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Familiar, yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  But it was your evidence at the tech conference and probably elsewhere that the information in that report, the analysis, the benchmarking that was done there was not of assistance to you in your negotiations with the Power Workers' Union? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


And, Mr. Millar, if I might, what we do with this information with our unions is -- it is an ongoing process of education, where we try and present the information and how we are being measured, so that they have an appreciation of some of our cost constraints and then in turn the drivers that we have in trying to contain those costs; for instance, staffing and head count.


I would maintain that, but for that ongoing process of education, there may be a lot more challenge with respect to our ability to make reductions in the work force.


So whether it's the Scott Madden reports or the Goodnight consulting reports or the Aon studies as recent, those are ongoing discussions that we have with our unions, or pensions, for that matter.  There are ongoing discussions with our unions to try and educate and inform them about some of the challenges that we have as an employer.


MR. MILLAR:  So it is not quite right then to say that these -- that Scott Madden, for example, doesn't assist you in the negotiations?  Maybe "assist" is the wrong word, but it is part of the background or the context for the negotiations?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  It is part of the background or the context.  In terms of delivering that information across the table during a set of negotiations, that would have very little impact on the outcome, given the dynamics and the nature of positional bargaining when you're in two-party negotiations.  It is a very adversarial process, and there is a lot of positioning that takes place.  The priorities of our side are not necessarily aligned with the priorities of the unions, and we are looking to make trade-offs in respect of our respective priorities.


MR. MILLAR:  But I thought what I heard you just say is that, absent Scott Madden or some of these other reports that you had, I thought I heard you say that that may have smoothed the way for assisting you in doing business transformation, things like that?  You might have had more resistance to those notions absent these reports?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Let me maybe put it a different way.  The results of negotiations are not what the opposing party starts with.  And there is a lot of tempering expectations during the course of negotiations.


That sort of information, that sort of ongoing dialogue with the unions, would -- likely assists at the end of the day in tempering the expectations from the unions, in terms of what they think they may be able to achieve.


MR. MILLAR:  And that may have some impact on the final result?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  May have some impact on the final result.


MR. MILLAR:  In the previous proceeding, EB-2010-0008, Mr. Fitzsimmons, did you participate in that proceeding?  I apologize I can't recall.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I did not.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I'm not sure how familiar you are with this, but in that proceeding OPG filed some benchmarking analysis it had obtained, or at least obtained raw data from a firm called Towers Perrin.  Are you familiar with that?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I am not.


MR. MILLAR:  Is Towers Perrin Towers Watson now?  Are they the same firm?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, they are.


MR. MILLAR:  Ms. Earle, are you familiar with that, with the benchmarking work that OPG had done in the previous proceeding?


MS. EARLE:  At a high level, yes, I am.


MR. MILLAR:  I understand -- or at least we couldn't find in the record, and we asked for your benchmarking attempts -- it doesn't appear that you use that service anymore; is that right?


MS. EARLE:  We participate in a power services survey.  However, we do not use Towers Watson for custom survey information; that is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you still obtain the raw data from them?


MS. EARLE:  I believe we do.


MR. MILLAR:  It seemed at least in the last case that you took that raw data and did some comparative analysis.  But I understand you don't do that anymore?


MS. EARLE:  This was done at a point in time, and I am actually not familiar with the process that was used to put this chart together, unfortunately.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, I guess my question to you is, do you currently take the raw data from Towers Watson, I guess it is now, or whomever, and do you currently do comparative analysis?


MS. EARLE:  We wouldn't have done it recently as a result of the Aon Hewitt study, which we just did.  It would probably be redundant, so at the current time we're looking at the data provided for in the Aon Hewitt study.


MR. MILLAR:  Because it is essentially the same thing.  It is just Aon doing it instead of you?


MS. EARLE:  The Aon survey is actually a custom survey, so I would propose that it is actually different, but --


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  It's a benchmarking analysis, but it is custom made for OPG?


MS. EARLE:  And it's an independent organization that is actually doing the analysis, as opposed to, I believe, what you're referring to, which was an OPG analysis, high-level analysis.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  And Mr. Fitzsimmons, if I understand whether you had the Towers Perrin -- pardon me.  I guess you don't know about that, but your evidence is that it is not particularly helpful to go into a negotiation and say, Ah hah, we pay -- we already pay you 20 percent more than your comparators, so let's stop reductions here.  Your evidence is that is just not going to fly?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  In fact, I think you heard discuss with Mr. Stephenson -- correct me if I'm wrong -- that in fact you -- even prior to getting Aon you are already generally aware of that; is that fair?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  You wouldn't have been under the impression that whether you had Aon or it was Towers Perrin, this was not a surprise to you that at least at a broader level when you look at something broader than Bruce and Hydro One and perhaps a few others, but if you look at the types of things that a benchmarking study would look at, you do poorly on that.  That is not a surprise?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That is not a surprise.


MR. MILLAR:  How long -- would you have known that for a while?  I mean, it wasn't Aon that told you that?  They gave you some numbers, but directionally, you already knew that?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  If I go back in terms of some of the history with this company and its establishment of compensation, and I believe this information has been out there before, whereas it was the Ontario Hydro's determination to benchmark, if you will, at the 75th percentile, and then collective agreements were sort of reflective of those levels of compensation, and accepting that it is very difficult to make changes in the collective bargaining regime, it would follow through that OPG, borne out of Ontario Hydro, would be paying compensation in that range, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  You may not know this, but do you know why 75th percentile was chosen?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Mr. Millar, I am not -- I know that goes as far back as the 1970s from some of the -- from some of the readings that I have done, but I'm not sure why at the time.


MR. MILLAR:  You and I are too young to know that.  Okay.  Thank you.


You did in fact do I guess what I will call some benchmarking analysis in this case, chiefly against the successor Ontario Hydro companies?  That's what you discussed with Mr. Stephenson earlier today?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And I have reproduced some of that, starting at page 24 of the compendium, if I could ask you to turn there.  Why don't we just start with table 2.  There is a few of them that we may refer to, but I think you will get a sense of it from table 2 on page 24.


First, can you confirm for me, this is data that -- this is a table that OPG prepared.  Is that right?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  So you would have gotten the data from wherever, but you chose the job categories and you filled in the data.  Is that right?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.  The data is taken from the Bruce Power collective agreements and the comparators are based on I guess what I would call major job categories.


MR. MILLAR:  And at least based on the information we have here, and as you went over with Mr. Stephenson, it looks like you have done -- you've done relatively well, at least according to this table.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.  The rates are quite a bit lower than they are at Bruce Power.


MR. MILLAR:  I note from the -- it's not a footnote, but under the asterisk at the bottom -- this is the top step in the salary band?  That's what is used as the comparator?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Why did you choose the top step?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  There was slightly different approaches that were taken between Bruce Power and OPG with respect to their wage structures, but the top step is reflective of a fair comparator analysis, in that Bruce Power, its compensation, like OPG's, is based on this concept of multi-skilling or skill-broadening, as it is referred to within OPG, wherein we can ask employees or have employees perform additional duties beyond their -- the traditional scope of their job classifications.


MR. MILLAR:  This table wouldn't tell us comparatively how many people OPG had in the top band versus Bruce Power?  This is just the numbers taken from the collective agreement? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  And just to confirm, this table just shows wages.  It doesn't -- it's not about pensions or any other type of benefits?  It is straight wages? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  It is straight wages.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, we're looking at the top band here for OPG.  The Auditor General's report, I take it you'd generally would be familiar with that? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  It pointed out -- and you might want to flip to page 32 if you would like a reference for this -- but if you could scroll down the page just a little bit?  Yes, there.  The bottom paragraph on the left column states:

"We" -- the Auditor General -– "found similar instances for about 1,200 unionized staff who had received more than the maximum set out in the base salary schedule in 2012." 


Do you see that? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I do.


MR. MILLAR:  So if we go back to table 2, although I guess this is the maximum step in the collective agreement, you're paying 1,200 workers more than that; is that right?  This isn't your actual maximum? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  So how useful is this?  You're comparing Bruce's top against your not top. 


[Witness panel confers]


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  So I think -- I think the comparison is relative.  We have some legacy issues of people that were over the band when we lowered the end rates for the compensation schedules.  And so as people leave the organization and new people are brought along, that is the expectation of the wage outcome.


Equally so, I'm not certain if Bruce Power likewise has people that are sitting above and beyond their compensation structure.


MR. MILLAR:  So you don't know that? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I don't know that. 


MR. MILLAR:  But as of the date of the AG's report, which is -- I forget.  It is something like 2012 or 2013.  It's probably –- it is recent.  There were 1,200 people at that time, according to the AG's report?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  There were 1,200 people.  That would be a combination of both in the Power Workers and the Society.  And off the top of my head, I could not tell you what that split was. 


MR. MILLAR:  When you produced this table, why didn't you mention that fact?  That this is not, in fact, the top amount that you pay your employees? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Because when we're looking at apples-to-apples, based on what we know, this is the frame of reference that we have.


I don't have the insight into what additional amounts Bruce Power may be paying. 


MR. MILLAR:  You do have the insight into what OPG is paying, though?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I do.


MR. MILLAR:  And that is not there and there is no reference to the fact that this is not, in fact, the maximum, the highest step?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No, it is the highest step.


MR. MILLAR:  It is not the highest pay?  It is not the highest wage?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  It's the highest step.  I mean, that is the compensation structure that we've had established.  We have some people that are grandfathered over those amounts. 


MR. MILLAR:  Were it not for the AG's report, would we even know that, about the 1,200 people?  Does that appear anywhere in your application? 


MS. EARLE:  I don't believe that it does explicitly appear anywhere in our application.


MR. MILLAR:  As your --


MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, Mr. Millar, can I just interject here?


These charts are very important to the Board as we look at the comparisons, and if there is information that needs to be added in order to clarify, we would like those made.


So to the extent that there are legacy issues that you have discussed, that needs to be updated.  We need to have confidence that these charts are accurate. 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  But I mean --


MS. LONG:  If there are 1,200 people that are making more than what you've described here as the top step of the salary band, then in order for these charts to be helpful for us -- to us, we need the explanation.


So I'm going to ask you to take a look at the other charts that you have produced and see if there is a similar -- that more information needs to be added. 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  And I guess my only point -- my only point with that is it may wind up being misleading if the other employers have arrangements where they have grandfathered employees.


It is not uncommon in unionized environments that when there are changes that are made, there are some legacy issues that are left behind, and then there is a reset and an expectation moving forward.


That is one way in which some changes can be effected. 


MS. HARE:  I was just going to say I do understand that, but this seems to be a very large percentage.  Like, what I have seen before is that there are a few people, but 1,200 is not a few people.  That is more than -- well, what is the amount?  About 12 percent?


That seems like a very high percentage.  Isn't it? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I mean, it's just -- yeah, it is about 12, around 12 percent of the work force.  And that number is declining. 


MR. SMITH:  Why don't we do this, so that we could provide more information?  And I have heard a number of concerns relating to the timing of the information, the split between PWU and the Society and the number, how many are included or captured by the information in the chart.


Why don't we take an undertaking to come back and provide you with whatever the information is that we have that breaks that out?


I suspect we're not going to know about what Bruce Power does, but we will take a look at that as well.  And if we don't know, we will just note on the undertaking that we don't know. 


MS. HARE:  Thank you. 


MR. MILLAR:  So that will be Undertaking J8.1.  

UNDERTAKING NO. J8.1:  To update Table 2 on page 32, if possible

MR. MILLAR:  You will be aware, obviously, that a few of the old Ontario Hydro companies are still regulated by the Board, the chief other one being Hydro One? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And they come the Board to have their rates set as well, just like you do? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I don't know if this will surprise you or not, but as it happens, they produce their own charts when they come to us, to attempt to show us that they have been very good at keeping their salaries or wages or what have you low compared to the other Ontario Hydro companies.


It wouldn't surprise you to hear that? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No, that wouldn't surprise me.


MR. MILLAR:  In fact, I've reproduced some of that starting at page 29 of our compendium.  This is from a recent Hydro One case.  The Board number is EB-2013-0416. 


Again, I don't intend to take you through all of this, but I guess my point here is you can look at -- they have a table 3 that I am looking at right now, the Power Workers' Union wage comparisons between '99 and 2013. 


Mechanical maintainer, regional maintainer, mechanical -- at least the way they've cut the data, they look pretty good.  They have had a 50 percent increase where you've had a 72 percent increase, and you can sort of follow it down.


The point here is not to go through all of the numbers, but I guess what I put to you is there's a number of different ways to cut the data; is that fair? 


MS. EARLE:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  And it might be in a company's interest to present to the Board the information that casts it in a favourable light? 


MS. EARLE:  Provided it was an accurate light. 


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  No one is suggesting any of this is inaccurate.  I'm sure Hydro One's numbers are right.  I'm sure -- subject to the 1,200 number, I'm sure the data you presented is perfectly correct.


But my point is that the applicant chooses what information to give to the Board; is that fair?


MS. EARLE:  That's fair.  And I might actually highlight that in this particular example of the Hydro One table -- and I think the Board touched on it just earlier, but in any of these, you're not necessarily sure of what the comparator organization has done with respect to their wage schedule.


And for instance, Mr. Fitzsimmons alluded to it earlier, but when OPG -- as well as Bruce Power -- went through the exercise of skills-broadening, what was done was the collapse of several distinct job documents into one classification.


And so for instance, if I look at -- the mechanical maintainer, the top one on the Hydro One chart, so that's a unique job for Hydro One.  However, OPG has actually since changed that, and it's a mechanical technician, and we have actually collapsed 16 jobs into this one.


So while the rate may be higher, OPG would submit that it encompasses a much broader skill level than the specific job that Hydro One is presenting here.


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  And you could probably come up with any number of critiques of the way that Hydro One has attempted to show that they're doing better than you're doing.


MS. EARLE:  Not necessarily critiques, but just explaining the evidence as it relates to OPG.


MR. MILLAR:  Just as doubtless, if -- I shouldn't say "doubtless".  If Bruce were to look at your tables, they might have some questions as well?


MS. EARLE:  They may very well.


MR. MILLAR:  Would this be one of the reasons that the opinion of a third party is helpful to have somebody from the outside come in and actually take a look at these things?  Does that take out -- I don't want to call it a bias, because I don't mean it in that sense, but I think it is human or corporate nature, perhaps, to try and look at things at a favourable light for yourself, and if you had a third party doing it, that is supposed to take out that bias.  Is that a fair statement?


MS. EARLE:  I think that any analysis that's done, as you pointed out earlier, the data can be cut several ways.  So a third party would cut it a different way, perhaps, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  When you were doing your collective bargaining with the Power Workers' Union, would you have had these -- would these tables have been things you looked at?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Which tables, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  The ones that you provided to the Board, the ones from, say, page 24 of the compendium, for example.  You have a number of tables --


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, they would.


MR. MILLAR:  So would these have been things you gave to the Power -- Power Workers probably already knew this, I assume, but would this have been something you gave to the Power Workers' Union and said, Listen, you've already got it pretty good.  We're...  Or, sorry, no, it would be the other way around, of course.  It would be them saying --


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  When we see the request for compensation from the Power Workers, with the production of those tables, we know where the source of the information came from; in other words, when they're seeking the rates that are applicable at Bruce Power.


MR. MILLAR:  Are you allowed to tell me what goes on in the negotiations?  I assume you're not.


MR. SMITH:  No.  Sorry, and I don't mean that -- I just mean at law we are not permitted to as a result of settlement privilege.  So I can't -- we've drifted close a few times, but I do think we have to be a little bit careful.


MR. MILLAR:  That is why I asked first.  And if you can't answer, you can't answer.  So let me move on.


Madam Chair, when were you looking to take a break for lunch?


MS. HARE:  Anytime that is convenient.


MR. MILLAR:  I've got one other, I think, shortish area, and then maybe it would be an appropriate time after that.


I just want to ask you a couple of questions, again, all on your collective bargaining still with the Power Workers' Union, and I guess also with the Society.


There was a direction from the government to go after net zero that we heard before.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Just remind me of what that was.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  So the expectation with net zero was that there was no net increase in compensation, meaning that compensation costs needed to be offset with other savings.


MR. MILLAR:  And your view is that you achieved that; is that correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And I guess -- well, could we go to page 61 again, please, of the compendium?  Here I am looking at the PWU actual compensation paid per FTE.  Obviously it is not flat over the 2013 to 2015 period.  Is that correct?


MS. LADAK:  That's correct, in terms of, yes -- like I said, this includes a number of different factors in the compensation.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, it does.  But just on the actual compensation that you are paying to each FTE, the average in 2015, by my rough math, is about $24,000 higher per employee than it was in 2012?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  And as I said before, this does include pension and OPEB and other items as well, overtime.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, it does.  Did the direction from the government specify that pensions were to be excluded from your net zero analysis?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No.


MR. MILLAR:  And I won't put words in your mouth, but what I heard earlier was that many of these pension-type costs are dependent on things that are outside of the company's control.  Is that why you think you have met at least the spirit of the net zero commitment?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No.  There were a number of other savings identified in our evidence.


MR. MILLAR:  They were, but the compensation that is actually going out the door is going up fairly significantly over the period where you have stated there is a -- that there are no increases to compensation.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  And there are a number of other factors behind that, including pension escalation.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So you haven't actually hit net zero, though; is that right?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  We have hit net zero as we understood the definition.


MR. MILLAR:  By excluding pensions?  Not excluding pensions.  That is unfair.  By excluding the discount rate and mortality assumptions?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No.  Within the context of the collective bargaining with the savings that were attained there -- which are savings to the business as a whole -- they were offsets to the costs of the compensation increases associated with collective bargaining.


MR. MILLAR:  So how do you reconcile that with line 44 on this chart?  That is not what it is showing.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Because there were -- there were other -- some of those costs would be broadly -- broadly have impacts, including things like the cost of staff reductions.


MR. MILLAR:  So like retirement bonuses?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Savings associated with staff reductions.


MR. MILLAR:  Savings or costs?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Savings.  And this is an area that I may be more comfortable talking about during the confidential proceeding.


MR. MILLAR:  I understand.


MR. SMITH:  There is -- my recollection is there was a specific undertaking to talk about OPG's net zero calculation, which I believe is in -- which is in confidence.  And so they're missing each other.  But we can, if we were in camera, talk about OPG's specific net zero calculation, which I think would make this a lot easier.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  So let's do that.  You weren't planning to go in camera, though, were you, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  No, I wasn't.  I mean, I guess my only point was -- I don't really plan to go in camera --


MS. HARE:  No, I understand your point.  We're kind of puzzled.  Now I see Mr. Rubenstein -- are you cross-examining, or Mr. Shepherd?  You are?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  We will be both cross-examining.  I will be cross-examining on this issue, and I have reserved some in camera time to -- for some of these general issues --


MS. HARE:  I did note on the schedule you had 30 minutes, and were you going to pursue this same area so we can leave it to your cross-examination?  Is that okay with you, Mr. Millar?


MR. MILLAR:  Absolutely.  I didn't have more questions on this.


MR. SMITH:  It is JT2.34, so it is not a mystery.


MS. HARE: Okay.  That's fine.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, it is 12:30.  I am happy to keep going, or we can take a lunch break now.  I am moving to a new area, but...


MS. HARE:  So let's take a lunch break now, and we will resume at 1:30.


--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:30 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:38 p.m.
Preliminary Matters:


MS. HARE:  Please be seated. 


I have one preliminary matter.  I think there was some confusion, so I just want to repeat the dates.  July 2nd, we're expecting the update of the Darlington evidence.  Then the technical conference will be July 8th and 9th.  I mentioned this morning that we will resume the hearing, then, on July 14th, but I wasn't specific, to say this is going to be July 14th, 15th, 17th and 18th, if four days are required.  And we also have July 21st available, if required. 


So if people could hold those dates.  So 14, 15, 17, 18 and 21, but then we have no more dates for the hearing.


Okay?  Any questions?  Any other preliminary matters? 


Okay.  Then I think, Mr. Millar, we are ready to resume with your cross.
Continued Cross-Examination by Mr. Millar:


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.


Good afternoon, panel.  Before I get back to my cross, I just wanted to review something I had discussed with Ms. Ladak earlier this morning, and I just want to make sure I have something straight. 


There was the discussion that we had about -- I think it was $33 million that weren't included in the application.  You recall that? 


MS. LADAK:  Yes, I do.


MR. MILLAR:  I just want to go through that to make sure that we're on the same page as to what that is referring to.


As a first step, the application that you originally filed as of September 27th, 2013, that was based on the 2013 to 2015 business plan; is that right? 


MS. LADAK:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And that included all of your costs? 


MS. LADAK:  I don't know if -- I would assume it did, but I think we did say at the end of that last discussion that it would be discussed with the next panel, who have better knowledge about the way the rates were -- submission was set. 


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So these questions would be better for panel 7?  Is that what I'm hearing? 


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  Yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  I will save that for another day. 


Let's discuss the Aon Hewitt survey.  And I have some extracts from that report, starting at about page 33, 34 of the compendium.  Maybe you can start at page 34. 


And just by way of background, can you confirm for me that it was the Board that directed you to commission this report? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes, I can confirm that.


MR. MILLAR:  And you retained Aon, I guess, because they have expertise in this field; is that right? 


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And they've produced this survey.  If we start at page 34, which is on the screen right now, I guess the first thing they did was they prepared a list of comparator organizations.  And we see here on page 5 of their report, page 34 of the compendium, that they had four criteria, I guess.  They're organizations from which OPG recruits, organizations from which OPG loses talent, organizations representative of the same and/or similar industry sectors, and organizations that are reflective of the complexity and size of OPG. 


Do you see that? 


MS. EARLE:  I do. 


MR. MILLAR:  And then if you flip to the next page of the compendium, which is also the next page of the report, it provides a list of the comparators it chose.


And you can see across the top, they're actually split out into a number of different groups that we will discuss in a moment.  You see that? 


MS. EARLE:  I do.


MR. MILLAR:  And then flipping to the next page, page 36 of the compendium, I understand that the survey that they were able to do encompasses about 54 percent of OPG's employees? 


MS. EARLE:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  And Aon sought to collect data and benchmark under the following categories.  And if you could flip to page 37, I guess this is what they were looking at. 


They've got base salary, target short-term incentive, target total cash compensation, eligibility and target long-term incentive, other cash compensation, and pensions and benefits. 


It seems to me -- although I am no expert in this field -- this would reflect what I would refer to as total compensation; is that fair? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  And can you tell me what -- what is total cash compensation?  I guess it says there it is base salary and target short-term incentive.  So that would exclude pensions and the like? 


MS. EARLE:  That's right. 


MR. MILLAR:  So the first thing that Aon did was they compared you against three different groupings of comparators on a total cash basis. 


You can see that starting at page 38, I think, of the compendium.  And let's just go through this quickly.  I just want to review the results of the survey before we talk about it. 


So on a total cash basis, first, you were compared against group 1.  And you see that at page 39?  And as it says at the top there:

"Group 1 was selected by identifying organizations that represent a direct talent pool for nuclear, thermal and hydroelectric power generation positions within OPG."


Do you see that? 


MS. EARLE:  I do.


MR. MILLAR:  And then they give the list of the comparators that they chose.


And then if you flip over to the actual results starting at page 40 of the compendium, for these group 1 comparators for the Power Workers' Union, they were about 20.5 percent over the P50 or the 50th percentile.  That is what "P50" means?


MS. EARLE:  On average, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  On average, yes.  That is an important distinction.  Thank you.


And then for P75 or the 75 percentile, they were 8.1 percent over? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And then the next page, we see that the Society, they were in fact slightly below the P50, minus 2.9? 


MS. EARLE:  That's right.


MR. MILLAR:  And then a bit more below on the 75th percentile, minus 12?  Sorry to take you through all of this.  I just want to provide the background.


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  If you go to the next page, page 42, this is the results for management.  And here we see they're 3 percent over at the 50th percentile and 6 and a half under at P75; is that right? 


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Then on the next page, page 43, we go to the group 2.  So this is -- it looks to me like it's a subset of group 1, but the way that Aon describes it is:

"Group 2 represents a subset of companies from group 1.  It was selected to assess OPG's pay levels vis-à-vis nuclear power generation and electric utility organizations." 


And I see there there's only five companies.  First, can you confirm these are all Canadian companies? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes, I can.


MR. MILLAR:  And they would all be unionized, to the best of your knowledge? 


MS. EARLE:  I'm not certain that's the case.


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe for the one -- Bruce is obviously unionized?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I can confirm that these employers all have unions representing the workers.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you very much.


And am I right that -- we discussed Hydro-Québec had a nuclear generator, Gentilly, which I believe closed in -- at the end of 2012, if I am not mistaken.  Do you happen to know if that's right? 


MS. EARLE:  Unfortunately I'm not. 


MR. MILLAR:  With that comment -- well, let me look at it another way.  Bruce Power operates a nuclear reactor?


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Atomic Energy Canada Limited is not an electricity generator, but I understand they operate a nuclear reactor; is that right?  If you don't know, you don't know.


MS. EARLE:  I don't know.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  New Brunswick Power operates a nuclear generating station?  The Point Lepreau facility?


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And CANDU, to my knowledge they don't operate a facility, but are they the folks that -- they sell or build and sell CANDU reactors around the world?  Do you happen to know what -- if that is correct?


MS. EARLE:  Unfortunately I am not --


MS. LADAK:  That is correct, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, was that Ms. Ladak?  Thank you.


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you for that.


So let's take a look at the results for group 2.  Again, if you could flip to page 44 starting with the Power Workers' Union again, the results here are similar, 19.1 percent over the 50th percentile and 4.3 percent over the 75th?  Is that correct?


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And then we can just flip through the next two pages for the Society.  Again, they're a little bit under for both, for P50, and almost 13 percent under for P75?


MS. EARLE:  That's what the findings indicate, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And then for management, again, a little bit under at P50 and 12 and a half or so at P75?


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Finally, there was group 3.  If I could ask you to turn to page 47.  This is, I guess -- it is called "general industry", and you can see at the top it says:

"Group 3 was selected to obtain data on general industry organizations that OPG shares a talent pool with for general industry positions."


And here again just to quickly go through the results -- I don't even know if I provided them all.  If you look at page 49, there is the Power Workers' Union, at about 30 percent over P50, 15.7 percent over P75.  The Society, 23.3 percent over at P50 and 9.4 percent at P75.


And in truth, I neglected to put in management.  So I won't just say that number to you so you can say yes, but you accept that is what the survey said for the PWU and the Society?


MS. EARLE:  I do.


MR. MILLAR:  And am I correct that the analysis we just looked at for groups 1, 2, and 3 was on a total cash basis and therefore did not include pensions and benefits?


MS. EARLE:  That is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And fortunately for us Aon did, in fact, look at pensions and benefits as well.  And if you could turn to page 51 of the compendium in that regard.


And I guess what they -- you will see some percentages shown here, which I understand to be the employer-paid value.  Do you know exactly what that means.  When we see 16.1 percent for OPG under "pension", for example, what does that number refer to?


MS. EARLE:  Aon has a definition on this, and I don't know that I could accurately describe it.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  They provided the definition in the report, which I think, perhaps unfairly to you, I neglected to put in the compendium.


But if we look at what they have here, for OPG, under "pensions", it looks like the percentage of base pay for OPG is 16.1 percent and the comparator group is 10.77 percent?  Do you see that?


MS. EARLE:  I do.


MR. MILLAR:  By my math that is about 35 percent higher, subject to check?


MS. EARLE:  Subject to check.


MR. MILLAR:  And then for life, I guess long-term disability and short term disability is a percentage of base pay, it is 4.18 for OPG and the 3.64 at the comparator group.  And again, by my math that is about 13 percent higher.  Would you accept that, subject to check?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, subject to check.


MR. MILLAR:  And finally, for medical and dental, this one is actually a numeric figure for OPG.  It works out to $2,816, and for the comparator group it is 2,471.  And I get that to be about 12 percent higher.  Is that about right?


MS. EARLE:  About right.


MR. MILLAR:  And then when we -- Aon also did some work on what is referred to here as the nuclear premium.  And we see that at page 52 of the compendium.


And I know that you will have reviewed this report, so I guess -- first of all, do you know, was this something you asked them to undertake, or did they undertake this on their own?  Do you happen to know?


MS. EARLE:  I'd have to refer to the terms of reference.  I'm not sure whether it was their undertaking or our request.


MR. MILLAR:  I think those were -- pardon me, the terms of reference are on the record, are they not?


MS. EARLE:  They are on the record.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So I won't ask you to turn to them.


It looks like what they did here was they had a look of certain U.S. companies, and they found that in some cases certainly there is a premium.  It is between zero and 30 percent.  In fact, they produced a little graph on page 54 which shows how that works, at least in the data that they had on their survey.


But first, can you confirm for me, it looks like they only looked at American companies in doing this analysis?  Is that right?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that's correct.  There was insufficient data on Canadian nuclear utilities.


MR. MILLAR:  Aon did in fact benchmark you directly against other Canadian nuclear operators in group 2; is that right?


MS. EARLE:  That is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  So is this analysis -- I know this isn't your report, but is the analysis of this trend that they observed in the United States, is that helpful to us here, since they actually benchmarked you directly against Canadian nuclear operators through group 2?


MS. EARLE:  The results with respect to the nuclear premium, I think, just at a high level are not necessarily fundamental to the remainder of the report.  So it was just for information for us.  It is not at a level that we can necessarily use, but it may be an area that OPG would want to review further.


MR. MILLAR:  And the funny thing about Aon is we have gone through all this.  I'm not sure I actually have all that many questions about it for you from OPG's perspective.  The report says what it says, I guess, and folks will make whatever argument they like based on that.  And I don't want to put any words in your mouth.  But I understand that from what we heard from Mr. Stephenson and what we heard on Friday, your response generally would be that, That's nice, but it is not helpful to us in our collective bargaining.  Would that generally be your response to this report?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.  This sort of a report and market analysis in the context of collective bargaining is not going to influence the outcome with respect to wages.


MR. MILLAR:  Now, group 2 included Bruce Power.  But I guess, since it included other comparators, it is not helpful to you?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  In the context of collective bargaining?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Because I think we heard Dr. Chaykowski say, and indeed the charts you produced, there's a lot of what I call benchmarking, but comparison, whatever you want to call it, with Bruce Power.  Bruce Power is included in group 2, correct?


So the group 2 analysis is not of assistance to you?  That doesn't help?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  It would help, as I stated earlier, in knowing where the comparators are coming from so that we make attempts to distinguish ourselves from why those rates are different.


MS. HARE:  Can I just interject, because I heard you say this last week as well.  Recognize none of us are labour relations experts.  I find it hard to believe that when you have a report that shows that you're paid -- your employees are paid more than the comparators, that that isn't of use in negotiations.


So can you just expand on your answer a little bit?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  So we can -- we can use this analysis and point out the obvious, that these workers are paid more than other workers.


When it comes to influencing the Unions, this will not influence.  They will, you know, consider their relative bargaining power against us, and the prospect of a work stoppage, and will not moderate their positions, based on their belief that what they have negotiated are fair and just compensation increases with the employer overtime.


MS. HARE:  Why doesn't it influence your position?  Because you are so afraid of a strike?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I think that's a -- you know, being concerned about a work stoppage is a very relevant consideration, and knowing that that work stoppage would likely be resolved through a binding arbitration and, as discussed in Mr. Chaykowski's evidence, interest arbitrators have a tendency to not make breakthrough agreements and to award compensation increases, the likely outcome is that, notwithstanding any of this information, that an interest arbitrator, trying to resolve a work stoppage or a bargaining impasse, is going to award compensation increases.


So with that in mind, our approach in collective bargaining is to weigh up our options, to seek trade-offs against what increases are on the table at that time, and to try and make those fair exchanges.


MS. HARE:  So this is a question to Dr. Chaykowski.


Even in the face of evidence that shows that these workers are paid more than other workers, do you think the arbitrator would rule in favour of the union's position?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well, I think one way of looking at it is that what the parties tend to focus on is the rate of increase.  They sort of take where they're at as a given, often.


Because in the case of some of these surveys, if they were accept them at face value, the employees might be looking at a wage roll-back.


MS. HARE:  Right.


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  And I mean, that for many of them is just not on.  You may have no choice if you're non-unionized, but if you are unionized, that is one of the central things that a union really must do, is, at least in tough times, protect your wage levels, and in better times, obviously, go after pretty significant pay increases, usually that reflect productivity increases in the industry, and certainly to protect against inflation increases.


So I think that from time to time these surveys probably are presented across the table in a variety of negotiations settings, but I think that it is unlikely that they would be taken seriously by the union because what they're focussed on is, you know, whether the collective agreement next door that they usually compare themselves to got 2 percent or 2 and a half percent or 3 percent.  And that's in order to maintain their pay relativities.


And the interest arbitrators really take the same approach.  And, you know, I've gone back to it before, but it really is a nice example.  The Albertyn award is pretty, pretty standard fare in terms of what arbitrators look at, so it is a good marker for the kinds of criteria that they will take into account.


And they're very conscious of both internal pay relativities as well as external pay relativities.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Millar, did I completely sidetrack you now?


MR. MILLAR:  Not at all.  In fact, I am going to move on to my next area.


I have some questions about the Auditor General's report.  And just to provide its evidentiary reference, I have all of the pages that I am going to refer to, but it has been entered as an exhibit previously.  It's Exhibit KT2.4.  Hopefully I have all the pages here that I will refer to.


So I would like to start with some questions about staffing levels for executives and senior management.  Maybe I could have you turn to page 55 of the compendium, which is page 159 of the Auditor General's report.


And just to lend some context to these questions, I will just read out the Auditor General's observations here.  And you see I am reading from the column on the left, the last paragraph that starts there:

"Despite the overall reduction OPG has recently made to its staffing levels, the size of its executive and senior management group, directors, vice-presidents and above, has moved in the opposite direction.  Figure 4 shows the overall number of staff has decreased from about 12,800 in 2003 to 12,100 in 2005 and 11,100 in 2012, a reduction of 8.5 percent since 2005.  However, the number of executives and members of senior management dropped initially from 173 in 2003 to 152 in 2005, but went up again to 238 by 2012, an increase of 58 percent since 2005."


One of the things I asked in a technical conference -- and you can turn to page 56 if you like -- or 57, I think, if you like, but you don't have to.  I asked if you knew how many executive and senior managers you will have in the test years.  And at least at that time, you didn't have a number for me, at least the way that the AG had calculated it.


Is that correct?  Do you not know how many people you will have at director or vice-president level and above for the test years?  Or do you have that information now?


[Witness panel confers]


MS. EARLE:  I believe the response is actually consistent with Mr. Mauti's response, in that, for business planning purposes, we don't break it down to that level.


The AG would have taken a point in time and looked back, and then have been able to look at each individual and what level they were in.  For planning purposes, it is not down to that level of granularity.


MR. MILLAR:  If we look at page 58 again -- and this is JT2.33 -- you provide management numbers overall there.  I appreciate that that includes people who are not vice-presidents or directors, but since 2010 -- from 2010 -- this is line 29 of that chart.  From 2010 to 2015, that you were at 1,101 in 2010 and 1,076 in 2013.


That number has barely moved at an overall level since 2010?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  And the management numbers in here, it's all what we call management, but that includes a lot of people that are just non-represented.  So it's not just directors, managers and VPs.


MR. MILLAR:  It is everyone who is not unionized; is that right?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  But it would include the directors?


MS. LADAK:  It would include them, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So I asked about this at the technical conference, but I -– well, first, let me ask this.  Back to page 55.  The right-hand side, if you could scroll down a little bit, the first paragraph under the bullet points.  The Auditor General observed:

"We also found that the number of vice-presidents and directors with no specific titles or job descriptions has increased considerably, from 12 in 2005 to 40 in 2012."


Is that right?


MS. EARLE:  If that's what the Auditor General found during their report.  I believe that OPG goes on to explain the reasoning behind that.


MR. MILLAR:  What is the reasoning behind that?


MS. EARLE:  That some individuals would have been in generic job titles as they were working on special projects.  And rather than have sort of a discrete portfolio and specific job, because of the broadness of the portfolio they were working on, or the project at the time, it would be in a -- the appropriate level at the director or what have you level.


MR. MILLAR:  So they would just be called, for example, director but they wouldn't have a -- there is no job description?


MS. EARLE:  The accountabilities would be set by the direct supervisor, and they would be in a relevant organizational assignment, which would speak to the project they were working on.


MR. MILLAR:  But no job description?


MS. EARLE:  In the formal sense, not –- not –- a generic –-


MR. MILLAR:  There wouldn't be a piece of paper saying what they do for a living?


MS. EARLE:  Not tied to their -- sorry, not tied to their job description, but again, those accountabilities would have been passed on from their supervisor.


MR. MILLAR:  Why were there so many more in 2012 than there were in 2005?


MS. EARLE:  So I believe that it goes on to speak to the fact that during business transformation, there were various projects and initiatives undertaken during that time.  And the number has since gone down.


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, the number of directors and vice-presidents, or the number of people that don't have a formal job description?


MS. EARLE:  Sorry, the number of directors and vice-presidents.


MR. MILLAR:  Has gone down since 2012?


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  We don't know what the number is for 2014, 2015?  I thought -- that is what I was trying to ask earlier, and I thought you said you don't break it down that way.


MS. EARLE:  Sorry, that was since 2012?  I meant for 2013 they had gone down.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  But you don't know since 2013?


MS. EARLE:  I don't know the plan number for 2014 and 2015.  That is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  So why is it that the management, the senior management numbers are going up fairly -- or at least as at the period covered by the AG, why are they going up so markedly in the face of overall staff numbers going down?


MS. EARLE:  The, sorry, specific -- sorry, the senior management?


MR. MILLAR:  I am just looking at the table, figure 4 on the page here.  It paints the picture pretty clearly.  You see the black line is the total number of staff, and it is falling quite rapidly, whereas the directors and vice-presidents are increasing just as markedly.


You would have thought they would correlate, not go the opposite way.


MS. EARLE:  So all management group has gone down, and as discussed, there was an increase in the senior management bands A to F, population in 2012.  That number has since gone down in 2013.


Part of the increase, again, was as it relates to business transformation and the design, the organization design, and the leadership capabilities required to execute business transformation.  But also, there was a portion of that group which would have been part of our refurb organization.  So those numbers would be captured in there as well.


MR. MILLAR:  The business transformation started in 2010?  Or was it 2011?  I can't recall.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  So at a very high level, preliminary level, in 2010 with some executive planning it started.  There was further engagement of more senior leaders in the organization throughout the course of 2011, and then substantively changes in organizations, and the actual transition and execution of work and projects would have been in 2012 and 2013.


MR. MILLAR:  Can we assign a number of directors and vice-presidents to business transformation on a full-time equivalent basis or something like that?  Would that type of breakdown exist?  Like, how many directors and vice-presidents do you have who spend their day doing business transformation?  --- Witness panel confers.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  We could undertake, on a best-efforts basis, to identify the number of people that are dedicated purely to business transformation.  But some of the roles -- there are new roles that have been created.  There are people that are working on project initiatives, and in some cases people are doing both.  So it may not be a very easy line-drawing exercise.


MR. MILLAR:  When you say "people" do you mean directors, vice-presidents, and above, or...


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  And managers.


MR. MILLAR:  And managers?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  You mean actual managers, as opposed to simply just non-unionized people?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. HARE:  Can I just jump in?  Ms. Earle, you said that the number of total management FTEs has gone down.  I'm looking at Undertaking J3.12, where I see, from 2010 to 2013 it went down by ten, and then it went up again.  So that there is no difference between 2010 and 2014.


MR. MILLAR:  You can see that at page 59 of the compendium, if that assists.


MS. HARE:  So can you explain your answer, please?  Yes, that's right.  You have got it on page 59.  --- Witness panel confers.


MS. EARLE:  Sorry, just to confirm, there are a lot of tables with a lot of different numbers.  This one actually would include the increase to Darlington refurb, which would not be incorporated in the ongoing operations numbers.  So while refurb is going up, the remainder of management would have been going down.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Perhaps you can provide a breakdown.


MS. EARLE:  Don't we have one?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MS. EARLE:  Sorry, just...


MS. HARE:  It would help us understand the numbers, because what you said doesn't correlate to what we see.


MS. EARLE:  Fair enough.  

[Witness panel confers]


MS. LADAK:  I'm just pulling out some of the detailed information to put it...


MS. HARE:  Yes, sure.


MS. LADAK:  Okay.  So from -- for nuclear operations, management staff is increasing from 20 -- are we going back to 2010, I think, is what we're looking at?  From 631 to 454 in the 2015 plan.  And the generation development is going from 42.5 in 2010 to 115 in 2015.  So you can just see the magnitude of the change there.


MS. DUFF:  Generation development.


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, just so I have that -- so it's clear for the record, the Chair's question was in respect of breaking out refurb and ongoing operations.  And then the witness used different wording, which I think was synonymous with ongoing operations and refurb, but we'd better make sure.


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  Refurb is -- when I said "nuclear generation development", I meant refurb.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, first, I think there was an undertaking offer from Mr. Fitzsimmons, and we'd better repeat that just so we're on the same page.  I always find it best to let the witness describe it so that you know what it is you're undertaking to do.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  So the undertaking was to see if we could ascertain the number of senior positions that are established in direct support of business transformation.


MR. MILLAR:  For what years would that cover?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  '13 and '14 for the test period.


MR. MILLAR:  '14 and '15 is the --


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  '14 and '15.  I'm sorry.


MR. MILLAR:  Is it possible to get '13 as well, just to have something with -- or whatever the last date with actuals is?


MR. SMITH:  In light of the last answer, I think that's got to be yes.  I'm sure we must be able to do 2013 as well.  

MS. LONG:  So I'm sorry, can I just clarify?  So it is 100 -- there are 115 managers and above, there will be, in 2015, strictly with respect to Darlington refurbishment?  I just want to make sure we get the terminology right.  When you said "generation development", is that what you're speaking of?


MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. LONG:  115 from manager and above, strictly speaking -- strictly dealing with Darlington refurbishment, that's it.


MS. LADAK:  Okay.  Sorry.  That's -- it is managers and non-unionized staff.  But I imagine most of these would be managers, not the non-unionized staff.  This is the data we have in the 2K information that we were putting together.


MS. LONG:  You can't differentiate between manager and non-unionized staff?


MS. LADAK:  I can't right now.  I don't have that data.  But I could get that information.


MS. LONG:  Are you able to provide that?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  Yes.  J3.12 breaks it out.  It's basically an 81.5 versus 18.5 percent ratio, but we will do the same thing as it relates to the numbers that you just heard as it relates to Darlington refurbishment.


MS. LONG:  Okay.  Thank you.  


MR. MILLAR:  On that same point, just so we're clear.  If you could turn to page 58 again, JT2.33.  Line 13 is actually the line for full-time equivalents for Darlington refurbishment project and new nuclear.  The last year for which you actually have actuals, there were only 200 people working on that.  Is that right?  That is 2013?


MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  So -- and then I guess --


MS. LADAK:  Sorry, 200 full-time equivalents.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, okay.  Well, let's explore that a little further.  I guess your forecast at least for 2014 and 2015 is up in the 270 range, if you average the two.


Did I hear you correctly to say that 115 of those people will be managers?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  That's correct, because some of that work will be done through contracts, external contracts.


MR. MILLAR:  Oh, so those aren't necessarily managers?  They're non-unionized people?


MS. LADAK:  No, no, sorry.  What I meant was not all of that work would be done by OPG employees.  That is what I meant.  Some of the work would be done by external contractors and consultants.  That is why it may seem like there's more managers in that mix than otherwise there would be.


MR. MILLAR:  The number 115 you gave us, is that a headcount number or a full-time equivalent number?


MS. LADAK:  That's a full-time equivalent number.


MR. MILLAR:  All right.  Now, with respect to all of these new hires at the director, VP -- vice-president level and above, I asked you some questions about that at the technical conference.


I asked if you had business cases that supported all of these new hires.  I was told that you do have it.  And I asked for it and you told me I couldn't have it.  Let me follow up on that a little bit.


For the 40 folks that the Auditor General referred to that don't have a job title or job description, were there business cases prepared for those 40 people?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Mr. Millar, could you take us back to the response from the technical conference, please?


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  I think I've got it here.


If you look at page 62, I think, you will see at line 20 I asked for the increases, and I'm speaking of increases in management numbers since 2005:

"Do we have documentation on the record, or is that available?"


Mr. Smith said:


"No.  We certainly don't have it on the record."

And I said:


"Okay.  If we're trying to assess the prudence of those increases, we wouldn't find anything on the record?"


And there was an exchange between Mr. Smith and I.  And I summed it up at line 6, to say:


"So the answer is no?"


That's the discussion I was referring to.  And then I guess -- but just to repeat my question, if that got lost somewhere in the mix, we spoke earlier of the 40 positions that the Auditor General identified that didn't have a title or job description.


My question to you now is a little different than I asked in the technical conference.  And that is:  Are there business cases or some sort of documentation that authorizes the creation of those positions?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  And so I am reading Mr. Mauti's response at line 17, which was:

"No, not a business case but a rationale and justification for each of those positions, and the ratings that they're evaluated at."


So the justification or the approval would have been the signing of an organizational change to include a position which would -- have required, according to our organizational authority register, at least a review of two people removed from the justification.


MR. MILLAR:  And you compare --


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  So there would have been -- there would have been a sign-off or an approval.


MR. MILLAR:  So you can do that, you can have that sort of sign-off, approval, documentation, whatever you want to call it, you can do that without actually having a job title or a job description?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  So --


MR. MILLAR:  How do they know what that person is doing?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Well, they would use -- the finding from the Auditor General was that people were put into generic job documents.


And what Ms. Earle was describing was it isn't, you know, specifically the very specific details of any given job, but rather a generic job that describes a broad range of duties.


So, for example, manages a project of X million dollars or Y million dollars, develops a strategy associated with X or Y.


And it's those generic titles, then, that determine whether that job is of a more senior level.  And that's what people are applied against.


MR. MILLAR:  Those sound like job descriptions to me.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  They're very generic -- so we may differ in our understanding of what a job description is, from a very detailed specific list of tasks to a very generic suite of accountabilities.


MR. MILLAR:  Has your practice changed in this regard since the Auditor General's report?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Our practice has changed in terms of a more thorough review for the approval of any director-level positions or above.  That certainly has become a lot more rigorous, in light of this scrutiny.


MR. MILLAR:  When we're looking specifically at director level and above, can you give me an idea of what the average all-in compensation would be for those positions?  A ballpark number?


And if you want to take an undertaking, that's fine.


MS. EARLE:  I'm not sure that we need an undertaking.  I believe that the management group's salary banding schedule is actually -- has been filed in our evidence, and that would be -- so it would be average salary.


In terms of an all-in cost, I would have to look to my finance colleagues, but I am not sure that we have it at that level.


MR. MILLAR:  Could I ask -- if you want to add to that, that's fine.  Maybe I could ask for an undertaking.  You could refer me to that evidence if that's sufficient, but I am looking more for an all-in cost.  And again, a ballpark average.


[Witness panel confers]


MS. LADAK:  In terms of the information that Ms. Earle just mentioned, that is available.  And just for simplicity, I would add on a rate of around 30 percent to those costs, to cover -- like, to cover all these all-in costs, which would be the benefits, the pension and all of that type of thing.


So that is a simple way to do that.


MR. MILLAR:  Do you have the evidentiary reference now, or is that something that would be easier to provide by undertaking?


MS. EARLE:  I can probably provide it to you at the break.


MR. SMITH:  Why don't we take a look for it over the break and we will give you the evidence reference?


MS. HARE:  I want to make sure I understand what you're asking, Mr. Millar.  Just for director level?


MR. MILLAR:  Director level and above.


MS. HARE:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Why don't we move on?  Still with the Auditor General's report, maybe you could turn to page 64 of the compendium, which I think is page 165 of the Auditor General's report.


And you will see about halfway down the left column, the paragraph starting in the middle:

"OPG engaged a consulting firm to conduct a compensation benchmarking study in 2012."


I think this already came up, but you confirmed that that is the Aon study; is that right?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And one of the things the Auditor General decided to do was to compare OPG's staff earnings against those in the Ontario public service.


And again, starting at the bottom of page 64, I'm going to read out some of what it says here:


"Given that the province of Ontario is OPG's sole shareholder, we compared total earnings and pensions at OPG with those in the Ontario public service for perspective.  For total earnings, we selected 16 typical positions below the executive levels at OPG in areas such as administration, finance and human resources, to benchmark against comparable positions in the Ontario public service."


That's over on the next page now:

"For 13 of the 16 positions, the average total earnings at OPG were higher than the maximum total earnings in the Ontario public service."


And it refers to figure 8 below.
"As for the executive levels, the total earnings for most OPG senior vice-presidents significantly exceeded those of most deputy ministers in the OPS."


So when we look at that Figure 8 below, first of all, it seems to me that these are not nuclear-specific job positions.  Indeed, they probably can't be, or else you wouldn't be able to compare it to the public service at large.  Would you agree with that?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, I'd agree with that.


MR. MILLAR:  Maybe we have been over this, but I guess I'm still having some trouble with it.  What we're looking at here is actually the average at OPG versus the maximum in the Ontario public service, and in some cases there is a very large discrepancy.


Why do you have to pay so much more than the Ontario public service generally?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  When I look at a lot of these roles -- and it may not be typical in some environments -- there are a lot of these roles, administration, clerk, finance specialist, finance clerk, finance analyst, secretary, that are covered in the collective agreements with OPG.


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, they're not covered?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  They are covered under the collective agreements with OPG.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So again, don't let me put words in your mouth, but your answer is essentially what we heard earlier, that you have to collectively bargain these, and this is the best you can do?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  It is the collective agreements that drive the -- which drive the rates.


MR. MILLAR:  Which ones of these are not unionized, from your scan?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I should hope the manager compensation.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, we will get to that, but let's assume that's right.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Manager human resources.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.  Director of accounting?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Director of accounting.  And finance controller.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thanks.  You can confirm for me that the Ontario public service is unionized?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, it is.


MR. MILLAR:  Could you flip to page 67, please.  There were some comments from the Auditor General regarding performance evaluations that I wanted to review with you.


And if you look, the right-hand column, "unionized staff", and again, I will read out a portion here:

"We found that performance evaluations of unionized employees have not been done adequately and consistently.  For example, the collective agreement for Power Worker's Union staff stipulates that progression through steps in salary rage ranges will be time-based, subject to satisfactory performance and successful completion of training, and that progression is to be withheld for six months if performance is not satisfactory.  The usual method of determining whether staff performance has been satisfactory is a performance evaluation, but in our review of a sample of 15 Power Worker Union staff, we found that only two out of a possible 30 evaluations for 2010 and 2011 had been completed.  OPG informed us that it does not have a requirement to prepare and document formal performance evaluations for Power Worker Union staff."


Is that correct?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.  We don't have a formal requirement.  We have tools that are available to supervisors that enable them to provide performance assessments.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, according to the Auditor General -- I'm not sure if we're talking about the same thing or not -- only two out of a possible 30 had received performance evaluations.  Is that representative?  Is that typical?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I wouldn't have a means of evaluating that answer.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, I guess my question is, how can -- isn't it a requirement that they show satisfactory performance to move through the salary bands?  Isn't that what the report says?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, it is.  And from that, I take it that employees are performing satisfactorily, unless there is an intervention to the contrary.


MR. MILLAR:  So it's again a negative-option thing?  Unless somebody comes to you and says you're doing a bad job, you're doing a good job?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  But there is no performance evaluation otherwise?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Not formally.


MR. MILLAR:  Are you doing anything about this?  That sounds strange to me, that you don't have performance evaluations even though satisfactory performance is required to proceed through the bands.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  We have tightened up, for our management staff anyway, further expectations around formal performance expectations, and I am not certain that we have made any further requirement for further performance evaluations for unionized staff.


MR. MILLAR:  Is this in the collective agreement?  Does it say that there are -- what did the collective agreements say about performance evaluations?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  The collective agreements basically state that employees will continue to progress through their salary bands unless there is a problem indicated, and performance will be -- performance will be determinative at that time about whether someone continues to progress or not.


There have been examples where performance has been withheld because of unsatisfactory performance.


MR. MILLAR:  So you don't have annual performance reviews?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Our expectation is that performance is an ongoing component of a supervisor's job.  It can be done moment to moment.  It can be done on the spot, where instantaneous feedback is given to employees, and that is our expectation around how we manage -- manage performance.


MR. MILLAR:  I think the Attorney General (sic) asked -- it appears they did a survey of some staff at OPG as part of their report.  And looking at the same page, in fact the next paragraph, they refer to that.  They say:

"The majority of respondents to our survey felt that OPG did not have timely, effective, and appropriate performance management in place for its unionized staff.  They felt the collective agreements, grievances, arbitrations, and automatic progression had created a perception that 'nothing can be done' and a tendency to avoid dealing with poor performance."


How do you respond to that?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I would respond to that, insofar as it is very difficult in a unionized environment, not impossible, but to manage performance, and that anytime a supervisor takes action against an employee, that is going to be subject to challenge, including grievances and including and up to arbitration.


MR. MILLAR:  Dr. Chaykowski, is that just the way it is?  Is that typical?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well, these are soft outcomes.  So they're, I think, difficult to measure.  But it is the case that unionized employees have recourse to strong grievance and arbitration procedures, and if they feel they have been unjustly dealt with, they have that avenue, and they will likely avail themselves of it.


MR. MILLAR:  So the respondents to the survey seem to be saying, Well, nothing can be done.  Are they right?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well, you know, I'd have to see the survey.  To be honest, I'm a little suspicious.  There's always a lot of response -- potential for response bias in surveys like this, where people read into it, This is a chance for me to express my concerns about, you know, about the workplace.

It isn't necessarily a good indicator of the extent to which management is able to effectively manage or able to effectively assess performance.  Personally, I think that this idea of a bi-annual or year-end assessment has significant limitations.  And there is a lot of merit to the approach where you give feedback where performance -- where there is underperformance.  And where there is -- typically in those cases where there is underperformance on an ongoing basis, that is often a situation where people will get held back from progression.


So that kind of approach to management is -- there's not necessarily anything wrong with that, in my view.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, on that same point, let's look at the next paragraph:

"At the time of our audit there were 960 unionized employees in managerial and supervisory roles.  In 2004 the government's OPG review committee also noted that 'many staff members that OPG considers to be managerial belong to a bargaining unit, which may be an obstacle to accountability and effective pursuit of company goals.  We strongly encourage all parties to make every effort to put in place a more rational arrangement'.  OPG informed us that two-thirds of its unionized staff with managerial or supervisory roles are represented by the Society, and a clause in their collective agreement allows them to perform these functions."


Again, is this just another case of that's how it is and that's how it has to be?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Quite frankly, I am puzzled by this critique.  I would think that it is certainly the case that the bounds of who is in and who is not in a collective bargaining unit would be determined by the Ontario Labour Relations Board at the time of certification.


Who is in and who is not in the bargaining unit, to the best of my knowledge, cannot be simply arbitrarily changed by one party or another.  You'd have to apply to the board.


And so that -- I don't think that who is in and who is out is something that the parties have any choice over.


And just as an anecdote, we have an analogous situation in universities.  In my university, we have department heads who are members of a bargaining unit.


So, you know, you can get situations like that, and so I am quite frankly puzzled as to what the parties, either one, could do to change this.


MR. MILLAR:  So there is no conflict of interest here?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Personally, I think there could be.  But that is not the overriding concern, necessarily, or the -- you know, in the balance, the board in its wisdom decided that certain jobs should be included in the bargaining unit, regardless of the fact that they may have some degree of managerial responsibility.


MR. MILLAR:  It sounds like the government's OPG review committee -- and in truth, I don't really know what that is -- they suggested there may be a problem here.


Did anything happen after that, after the 2004 report?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I believe this was the 2004 report commonly referred to as the Manley report.


And my recollection of that report in terms of advice to government was that the inclusion of managers in a bargaining unit presented certain cultural impediments to making change.


And nothing came of that beyond their -- for reasons likely a result of, as Mr. Chaykowski has indicated, that the bargaining units are formed under the Ontario Labour Relations Act.  There would need to be something specifically legislatively at this point to change that.


MR. MILLAR:  All right.  Given the time, I am going to move on.  Pensions, our next topic, by way of overview, I just want to give us a little bit of context here.


I understand that OPG offers three types of retirement benefits.  And those would be the registered pension plan, and then on top of that there is the supplemental pension plan, and then there is also other post-employment benefits; is that correct?


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  In 30 seconds or less, could you take us through what each of those are, at a very high level?


MS. EARLE:  There is a maximum under the registered pension plan.  OPG provides a supplemental plan.  And then the additional benefits are things -- I believe it is referenced, and I don't want to misrepresent what they are.  Just give me one moment.


Sorry, yes.  So the benefits are the health and dental, insurance benefits, et cetera.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.  If you could turn to page 72 of the compendium, what we have tried to do here is create -- well, two tables, in fact, put it all on one page, to try and get all of the costs you're seeking to recover through the -- in the test period for pensions and other post-employment benefits.


I just want to make sure we've got the numbers right.  What I've done is I've looked at line 11 and line 23.  So the top part is for pensions, which I think is the registered pension plan, and then it is other post-employment benefits below that.


For 2014, I have numbers of 471 and 204 respectively.  So am I right that OPG is seeking to recover about $675 million in 2014 for pensions and other post-employment benefits?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Then for 2015, the number I get is 618 million; is that right?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And I also understand these are not amounts you're seeking to recover in this application, but there are also some significant unfunded liabilities with respect to your pensions and other post-employment benefits.


For -- if you add it all up and you look at line 27, the number shifts a lot.  And I take it that is for a number of reasons, and it can move over time.  But what we have for 2012 and 2013 actuals are 6.8 billion and 5.4 billion; is that right?


MS. LADAK:  I'm not familiar with these numbers, exactly.  That would be more the next -- the finance panel.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  That's fine.  Can you confirm, though, that with respect to the unfunded liabilities, you're not seeking any specific recovery for those in this application?  If you don't know that, that's fine.


MS. LADAK:  Well, we actually recover our costs based on what our pension expense is.  We don't go specifically to what the unfunded liability is.  That's how we recover our costs.


MR. MILLAR:  You also have a pension and post-employment benefits variance account.  That's already been discussed in this application.


I have it down at $667 million in 2013.  There may well be changes with that, but the point isn't that's the exact number, but that is another component of your costs relating to pensions and other post-employment benefits that you are not seeking to recover as part of this application; is that right?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  The variance account is recovered -- we have separate hearings for these variance accounts, typically.


MR. MILLAR:  That's right.  So that is not part of this proceeding; that is yet to come?


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I know that you -- this is something that confuses me a bit, and your explanation probably won't help me but it will help others who are paying attention, I hope.  I know that you recover some of your pension costs through centrally held costs, and then others are not.


Can you explain to me the distinction?  What goes into centrally held costs versus -- I guess your current service costs is the other category.


MS. LADAK:  So the current service cost, if you are familiar with pensions, they're the costs that the current employees that are working accrue over the life of their employment with OPG.  And those are built into our standard labour rates, and those are the ones you would see flowing through the amounts that we're talking about.


Then we have a portion of costs that we call centrally held, and pension is one of them.  And that includes costs for -- past service costs for employees that were previously retired, as well as other adjustments that are made to our -- the actuarial valuations and so on that we discussed previously.


MR. MILLAR:  To be clear, you're seeking to recover both those categories of costs in this application?


MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Just looking at the registered pension plan for a moment, I understand that all of your employees are a part of this pension plan?  All of your regular employees?  Like, management and both the Society and the Power Workers' Union?


MS. LADAK:  Yes, they are.


MR. MILLAR:  I understand that the way this works -- and Mr. Stephenson discussed this this morning, so we probably don't have to go through it in great detail, but with respect to contributions, both the employer and the employee make contributions to this plan?


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And at least for your unionized employees, the amount that they contribute to the plan is set out in the collective agreements?


MS. EARLE:  That is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And you don't find a ratio there, but you find -- I don't know what it is.  I assume it is a formula of some type that says how much money has to be paid in?


MS. EARLE:  It's a percentage.


MR. MILLAR:  A percentage?


Could you turn to page 65, please, of the compendium?  Again, you have already gone over this a little bit with Mr. Stephenson, but I wanted to talk about the -- what the AG, the Auditor General, describes as the ratio, the contribution ratio.


You will see the first bullet point in the left column:

"OPG's contributions to the pension plan have been disproportionately larger than those of its employees every year.  Since 2005 the employer/employee contribution ratio at OPG has been around 4:1 to 5:1, significantly higher than the 1:1 ratio at the Ontario public service.  For example, employees contributed $70 million to the pension fund in 2012, while OPG put in $370 million."


Do you see that?

MS. EARLE:  I do see that.

MR. MILLAR:  And I know there was some discussion regarding what the current ratio actually is.  And I wonder if we could turn to -- maybe page 77 is a good place to get a handle on this.

This is a chart that we've made, but really all we did was take a chart from your pension plan report to members, and we did a calculation ourselves of what that -- what the ratio actually worked out to.

So I understand OPG's view was that the contribution ratio is about three to one; is that right?

MS. EARLE:  Based on current service cost, yes.

MR. MILLAR:  Right.  And I guess the difference between how you came up with three to one and how the Attorney General came up with four or five to one is that they don't just take the current service costs.  They take your entire employer contribution, and then they just compare that against the entire employee contribution.  That's the difference?

MS. EARLE:  Yes.  I would just say that my understanding -- and I personally am not a pension expert, but in speaking with our pension expert, that generally it is accepted when you're talking about the contribution ratio, it is based on the current service costs.  So that was where our response came from.

But based on those calculations, including the special payments, you would -- the result would be the ratios that you and the Auditor General had come up with.

MS. HARE:  But just so I understand, so you're saying it is not four or five to one, it is three to one?

MS. EARLE:  That would be our position, yes.

MS. HARE:  Do you agree that the OPS is one to one?

MS. EARLE:  So the OPS -- the structure of the OPS pension plan is different.  It is a jointly sponsored plan whereby both the employer and employees are on the hook for contributions.  So it does lend itself to a different model.  OPG is a single-employer plan, and the rates, as we discussed, are largely set in the collective agreements, and as a result OPG is on the hook for the remainder of the service cost.

MS. HARE:  So it is a different plan, but is it fair to say that the OPS is one to one and OPG is three to one?

MS. EARLE:  Without knowing the details of how that calculation was made, I would take that subject to check.  I personally don't know for certain what that ratio is for OPS.

MR. MILLAR:  I'm sorry, were you done, Ms. Hare?

MS. HARE:  Not really.  I'm thinking that it would be kind of nice for somebody to check that and give us a reason why it is not -- even if I take your three to one, why it's not three to one versus one to one.

MS. EARLE:  I --


MS. HARE:  I'm not saying why yours should be one to one, but just, is that a fair comparison, that theirs is one to one and yours is, if I take your numbers, three to one?

MS. EARLE:  On its face I would say that that is a fair comparison.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. EARLE:  Based on them being two different plans, the jointly sponsored versus -- because those are two significant differences which change the contribution ratio.

MR. MILLAR:  So sticking with page 77, again, we have just done a straight math calculation, and I appreciate that if you did it on current service costs the number would be different.  In fact, the ratio would be lower.  But if we did the actual money that you contributed to the plan every year from 2009 to 2013, it runs from 3.2 to 4.2, 4.2 in 2013, and the high water mark being 2012 at 4.9?  Is that -- do you have any reason to disagree with that math?

MS. EARLE:  I don't.

MR. MILLAR:  And you wouldn't -- there wouldn't be actual -- a forecast of the contribution ratio for the test period?

MS. EARLE:  No.  Again, with the contribution rates of the unions embedded in the collective agreement and OPG on the hook to make up for the remainder of the current service cost and all the factors that we have described that could change that amount, I don't believe there is a forecast.

MR. MILLAR:  The pension plan, as we've discussed, that is actually only part of the retirement benefits you offer your employees?  There is also the supplemental pension plan and other post-employment benefits?  You won't see those on this chart.  

[Witness panel confers]


MS. EARLE:  Sorry, can you repeat your question, Mr. Millar?

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I'm sorry, I think it was a simple one, and that was just to say what we've already covered.  The pension plan is only part of your retirement benefits.  There is also the supplemental and the OPEBs?

MS. EARLE:  Yes, that is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  I understand for supplemental pension plan and the other post-employment benefits the employee contributes nothing to that; is that correct?  That is all an employer program?  It is funded entirely by the company?

MS. EARLE:  That is correct.

MR. MILLAR:  And if you look to page 76, which is the page immediately preceding what we're looking at now, these are your audited financial statements for 2013.

And it may be a little bit hard to read, but if you look at "change in plan assets" -- yes, sort of towards the top there you will see "contributions by employer"?  Do you see that?  It is -- the first number is 306, which is for the registered pension plan?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, we see that.

MR. MILLAR:  And then if you go over it shows the supplemental pension plan amounts, which for 2013 were $14 million.  And then it was $16 million in 2012?

MS. LADAK:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  And then for other post-employment benefits it is $87 million in 2013 and $83 million in 2012?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, we see that.

MR. MILLAR:  So in total that is approximately $100 million in each of those two years?  It is actually 101 and 99, but on average that is an additional $100 million that the employer pays for pension -- or for retirement benefits?

MS. LADAK:  Yes, that's right.

MR. MILLAR:  And again, flipping back to 77, if I add that to your employer contribution for the pension plan, I get for 2012 $370 million, plus 99, so $469 million is what you contribute.  And then for 2013 it is 300 million for the pension plan and 101 million for the other stuff.  So you're at 401 million.  That is the total amount contributed by the employer for post -- for retirement benefits.  Is that fair?



MS. LADAK:  Yes.  I'm just not sure if --


MR. MILLAR:  I took you through a lot of math.  I apologize.  But all I've done is added up all those numbers.

MS. LADAK:  No, no, that's fine, I was just looking at the contributions by employer, and I just wanted to make sure the other pieces were not -- yes, you're correct, actually.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you very much.

And again, this would exclude any money building in the deferral account, which we just discussed, as it related to those two years.

MS. LADAK:  I'm not sure how the deferral account comes into play with the contributions, because the deferral account is based on the accounting-based pension expense.

MR. MILLAR:  I will leave that then.  I'll withdraw that question --


MS. LADAK:  Yes.  I don't think it actually impacts this, yeah.

MR. MILLAR:  All right.  You had a discussion with Mr. Stephenson about how these pension ratios work and how there actually is no ratio in the collective agreement.  It is how things work out, I guess.

And I also heard for the current collective agreements it is essentially status quo for the pension contributions from the employee?

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.

MR. MILLAR:  So there have been no changes there?

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  And I guess when we look at the data that we have on page 77, not even looking at the ratios, but just the employer contribution, well, it varies, but it seems to be rising, and the ratio seems to be rising.

I think you discussed this a little bit already, but why are we seeing that?  What is happening to make your level of contribution get higher? 


[Witness panel confers]


MS. LADAK:  Actually, no one on this panel is actually able to speak to that.  If you could discuss that with the finance panel.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let me put it a different way, then.  From what we can see here -- and presumably this wouldn't really be a surprise to you -- even when the collective agreement -- the language in the collective agreement stays the same, the actual amount of money you're going to be on the hook for will vary.  Is that fair?

MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, because there are statutory requirements that come into play when making up your pension obligations. 


MR. MILLAR:  And when you enter into your discussions, your collective bargaining, do you consider that?  Do you consider the fact that -- you must do some analysis.  You must do some forecasting before you go into a collective agreement, to say:  Listen, the cost of these benefits, the cost of X, the cost of Y, is going to be this. 


When it comes to determining -- let me put it a different way.  Even when you keep the same language around how much people contribute to the pension plan, you know the numbers are going to vary from year to year.  Is that something you consider before you go into collective agreement -- 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  So --


MR. MILLAR:  -- bargaining?  Sorry. 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  The cost of pensions is not, certainly, idiosyncratic to OPG.  I think it has been a concern for most employers; it has been a concern for us for some time.


And we have made incremental gains in terms of changing the pension contribution rates, going as far back as 2002, and then again in 2006 with the Society, and then in 2009 with the Power Workers.


So these are just incremental gains that are being made.


Our approach, in terms of trying to address the pension issue overall, will continue to be to try and make those incremental gains through the collective bargaining process, by looking at the amount that employees have to contribute toward the benefit.


MR. MILLAR:  But my question was when you're doing your collective bargaining and you say:  Okay.  It looks like we're going to keep the status quo with respect to pensions, do you actually do an analysis at OPG to determine if that is going to cost you more money the next year than it did in the previous year?  Or less money, for that matter?  Do you actually look at how much that is going to cost you?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, we do. 


MR. MILLAR:  If it's going to cost you an awful lot more in year 2 than it did in year 1, or whatever, if you see that that number is going way up, it would seem to me that you've got to look at the bottom line, how much you are going to have to pay in compensation.  That is going to be a big driver of that.


Does that inform your negotiations?  Like, can you go to the Power Workers' Union and say:  Listen, I know that this was the deal last time, but that's going to cost us another $200 million if we keep the same language.  I'm throwing numbers out there, just for illustrative purposes.


Isn't that part of your negotiations with them? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes, it is, indeed.


And perhaps if I could just take you to an exhibit for a second, and we will go back to Mr. Albertyn's exhibit.  Probably the easiest reference is the earlier compendium of the Power Workers.


MR. MILLAR:  I think it is probably page 31. 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  And I will take you to page 31 of that exhibit, and paragraph 67. 


MR. MILLAR:  So it looks like you had this discussion in the context of that arbitration?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  And I guess Mr. Albertyn was unmoved by that? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  He was unmoved, and not prepared to grant either side's request with respect to pension adjustments -- or changes, rather, during the course of that arbitration. 


MR. MILLAR:  So the fact that status quo language can lead to non-status quo costs -- in other words, that the costs can change markedly even though the language stays the same -- that's just how it is? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yeah.  One of the -- one of the criticisms, I suppose, of the interest arbitration process goes with respect to the concept of ability to pay. 


And arbitrators chiefly have dismissed that as a principal consideration in resolving an impasse through interest arbitration.  Their focus becomes more in trying to replicate the outcome that the parties would have achieved had they been free to bargain collectively and had available to them the economic levers of the lockout in the case of the employer, or a strike in the case of a union, all of which are designed to impose economic sanctions on either side. 


MS. HARE:  Mr. Millar, would this be a convenient time? 


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, just one more question and then I'm --


MS. HARE:  Sure.  Yes.


MR. MILAR:  I think we will talk about that a little it more, but thank you for that.  I read that page with interest as well.


Can you confirm for me that OPG is on the hook for any deficits in the pension plan?  It is not shared with the union; that is OPG's responsibility? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, would this be an appropriate time?


MS. HARE:  Yes, it would.  So we will break until 3:25.  Mr. Millar, how much longer do you think you will be? 


MR. MILLAR:  I'm at about three hours.  I will probably be close to four.


MS. HARE:  So you will take us til 4:30, end of the day?


MR. MILLAR:  Probably.


MS. HARE:  Then, Mr. Rubenstein, you will start off in the morning.  Does that work for you? 


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Whatever. 


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.  So we will break until 3:25. 


--- Recess taken at 3:05 p.m. 

--- On resuming at 3:30 p.m.


MS. HARE:  Please be seated.  Mr. Millar, please resume.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Good afternoon, again, panel.  Panel, I don't know about you, but I sort of had the post-lunch blues for most of that last session, so I'm going to try and pick things up a bit and take us through the home stretch.  I won't be too much longer with you.


Still on the topic of pensions, but on a slightly different area, there was a -- maybe you could turn to page 79 of the compendium.  This is a report, or a briefing, I guess you would call it, prepared by Towers Watson.  It is called a CHRC briefing.  What does CHRC stand for?


MS. EARLE:  That would be the compensation and human resources committee of the board at OPG.


MR. MILLAR:  And this was originally asked for by Schools and eventually was produced, is the long and the short of it.  What is this document?


MS. EARLE:  Just give me one moment.


Okay.  Sorry.  So this was a review that Towers Watson did in conjunction with OPG, and essentially it was some work that we were doing to -- which was largely sort of exploratory and conceptual, taking a look to define the level of program cost volatility that is sustainable for OPG in terms of its pension and benefit programs.


So high-level look at financial sustainability for OPG against the cost of its pension and benefits programs.


MR. MILLAR:  So this is --


MS. HARE:  Can I interrupt now?  I'm sorry, Mr. Millar.  When you say "done in conjunction with OPG", so it wasn't an independent study?


MS. EARLE:  It was not an independent study, no; this was Towers consulting with OPG.


MS. HARE:  Yes, thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  So obviously this is something that OPG undertook to do.  You retained Towers Watson to assist you in this analysis?


MS. EARLE:  That is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  This isn't subject to a Board direction or anything like that.  This is something OPG decided to do on its own?


MS. EARLE:  It was after various industry reports on the status of pension plans, and I think that the Board, as well as OPG, thought it was prudent to perhaps take a closer look at OPG's pension and benefits programs.


MR. MILLAR:  And you can see by the date shown here this was completed December 14th, 2011?


MS. EARLE:  The report here is dated December -- oh, sorry.


MS. DUFF:  It is the board of directors?


MS. EARLE:  Sorry, yes, OPG's board of directors.  Sorry, the date on this is December 14th, 2011.  However, I would submit that it actually wasn't a final report.  Again, because it was consultative in nature, it wasn't a final report.  This was a sort of piece of the work that was ongoing.


MR. MILLAR:  Is there a -- did something come after this?


MS. EARLE:  No.  But this report, again, put forward some things for OPG to consider.  There wasn't a final recommendation or final path forward per se, in terms of implementation, actual action plan on implementation of anything necessarily specific in this document.


MR. MILLAR:  Was this the end of Towers Watson's retainer?  In other words, are you still working with Towers Watson on this?  Or was this the extent of their involvement, at least to date?


MS. EARLE:  On this program, this was the extent of the work, I believe.  There may have been, in early -- I'm just trying to recall -- in early 2012, but nothing, nothing further than -- it was just a further discussion on this work.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you.


Could you flip to page 80, please.  And I think this is -- this is the first page of the report, the executive summary.  The very first bullet says:

"The analysis confirms the belief and quantifies the extent to which OPG's pension and benefit plans are unsustainable."


That is the first line in the report.  That is quite an opener, wouldn't you say?


MS. EARLE:  Yeah.


MR. MILLAR:  That is not really a question, so let me take that back.  That is what it says.  And then immediately beneath that:

"Under the status quo, the threshold levels for all metrics chosen to assess sustainability are exceeded."


Then I won't read all of this, but if you look at the bottom bullet, the red bullet:

"Consistent with prior CHRC..."


Which is committee --


MS. EARLE:  Compensation and human resources committee.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you:

"...discussions, significant changes to pension and benefit design and program management will be required to improve sustainability."

Underneath that:

"Long-term strategy will require aggressive pursuit of significant design changes through a variety of channels, supported by critical cost-reduction approaches through plan management".


Do you see that?


MS. EARLE:  I do.


MR. MILLAR:  And then I don't want to take you through every page of this report, but they ran you through four metrics to assess the sustainability of the pension plan.  Is that correct?


MS. EARLE:  That's correct.  So these are metrics that would have been established again in consultation with Towers Watson, but with the involvement of our CFO and treasurer at the time.


MR. MILLAR:  Right.  So you were working together on this?


MS. EARLE:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And I've produced some highlights from this.  The first metric, that is at page 81 -- and you will have to bear with me a bit, because I'm not quite positive how I am supposed to read this, but looking at the bullet point, first it says metric 1 is:

"Pension and benefits cash should not exceed 10 percent of gross revenues."


It says:

"Starting in 2014 (after the next pension valuation) more than 75 percent of scenarios show cash contribution requirements above 10 percent of gross revenue each year."


Are you able to help me out exactly what that means?  Does that mean there is a 75 percent chance that your P&B cash will exceed 10 percent?  How should I read that?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that is correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Let's flip the page to the next metric, which is:

"Pension and benefits cash should not exceed 40 percent of operating cash flow before cap ex."


Is that saying -- am I reading it -- should I read that to say O&M expense shouldn't exceed...


MS. LADAK:  It is probably more than O&M --


MR. MILLAR:  I think your mic is off, ma'am.


MS. LADAK:  O&M would be the largest component, but there would be other items in there too.


MR. MILLAR:  Under the bullet point it says:

"Cash contributions represent over 40 percent of operating cash flow before cap ex in 20 to 35 percent of scenarios for entire projection period."


Am I reading that right, that that means that -- I guess it says what it says, but help me out with this.  Is it saying 40 percent of your cash flow before cap ex will be dedicated to pensions and benefits?  Is that what that means?


MS. LADAK:  That is what that means, yes.


MS. EARLE:  In 20 to 35 percent of the scenarios that were run through the model.


MR. MILLAR:  Thank you for that.


MS. EARLE:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Metric 3 on the next page, page 83:

"Pension and benefits expense should not exceed 35 percent of earnings before interest and taxes."


And actually, on this metric it looks like things are slated to improve.  It says:

"Projected ratio of pension and benefit expenses to earnings before interest and taxes is expected to gradually reduce over time, primarily due to significant contributions to pension plan."


But it looks like you're still above the metric; is that right?  I'm not quite sure how to read this.


MS. EARLE:  Right.  And again, I think again back to the summary, where it describes the fact that under the status quo all of the thresholds -- all of the metrics are above threshold.  So I don't know if you want to continue to go through each of them, but, yes, that's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, I only have one more, so --


MS. EARLE:  Okay.


MR. MILLAR:  -- just for fun let's go through them.  On this one you're actually improving a bit over time, though, right?  You're still over the threshold, but it looks like as time goes by it gets better?


MS. EARLE:  Yes, that is what --


MR. MILLAR:  And finally, metric number 4:

"Pension and benefit expenses should not exceed $50,000 per active employee."


And then the bullet point says:

"Median per capita expense stays at $60,000 for projection period, with 25 percent of scenarios having per capita expenses above $80,000 in constant 2011 dollars."


And that's -- well, I guess that -- is that fairly self-explanatory?


MS. EARLE:  Yes.  It exceeds the threshold.


MR. MILLAR:  It exceeds the threshold? 


Let's look at page 86.  This is the -- further into the report, so I haven't reproduced every page, but this is titled:  "The recap of current states."


And if you look at the first bullet:

"A number of current cost levels exceed the threshold which OPG views as necessary to maintain a sustainable business (across all key measures)."


The next one:

"The risk of costs escalating far beyond an affordable level is very plausible." 


I won't read them all, but I will skip one:

"Overall change strategy needs to recognize the reality of labour negotiation dynamics and related bargaining capital required for implementing changes."


Finally:

"Negotiation strategies and mandates must carefully evaluate impacts on pensions and benefits costs."


Focussing on the first two, this sounds to me like you're in imminent danger of going bankrupt.  Am I reading that wrong? 


MS. EARLE:  The pension plan, it's a long-term plan.  So if we look -- I'm just trying to pick a slide, but essentially this sort of goes out to 2025, so it is actually looking over a longer term.  This isn't an overnight issue that is going to come crashing down on us.  It is looking at the longer-term sustainability of the plan and acknowledging the fact that, yes, we need to look at opportunities to improve the cost structure of that plan. 


MR. MILLAR:  This paints a very distressing picture; is that fair to say? 


MS. EARLE:  That is probably fair. 


MR. MILLAR:  Again, am I right in reading that absent changes, if things go the way this report predicts it will, your pension and benefits costs are going to devour your revenue? 


MS. EARLE:  Yes.  That would be a fair assessment. 


MR. MILLAR:  So again on Friday, Mr. Stephenson was running through a number of scenarios with Mr. Fitzsimmons about sort of what can happen in negotiations and whatnot.


He asked what I think he thought was a rhetorical question, and that was, he asked:  Is OPG planning on going bankrupt?  And Mr. Fitzsimmons said no.


But doesn't this report say that that is a real possibility? 


MS. EARLE:  I'm not sure that this report speaks to OPG's overall financial sustainability, or that OPG overall would go bankrupt.


MR. MILLAR:  It says:

"A number of current cost levels exceed the thresholds which OPG views as necessary to maintain a sustainable business." 


MS. EARLE:  I think that what the report states is that changes need to be made in order to make this more sustainable. 


MR. MILLAR:  The last bullet there, which we reviewed quickly, it states:  "Negotiation strategies", by which, I think, that means collective bargaining negotiation strategies; is that what I should take that to mean?


MS. EARLE:  Yes.

MR. MILLAR:  "...and mandates must carefully evaluate 
impacts on pension and benefits costs."


We went over that you had this report available to you in December, 2011.  And I think the date you entered your new collective agreement with the Power Workers was April 2012; is that right? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct. 


MR. MILLAR:  So you had the benefit of this sobering report when you entered into your negotiations? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Yes.  It would have been available at the time.


MR. MILLAR:  Did you show them this?  If you can't answer that, that's fine.  I don't want to intrude on the confidentiality.  Why don't I withdraw that question?  Unless you're comfortable answering it, I am happy to withdraw that question.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  I would say -- and I've indicated this earlier on, Mr. Millar -- in terms of our pension status, we have at least quarterly updates with both of our unions, where there is at least a discussion about the status of the pension plan, in terms of where we sit with respect to our funding and the costs associated with that plan, to try and educate them about -- that these are the real costs, in a view to trying to effect change over time. 


MR. MILLAR:  So am I correct that you went into your negotiations with -- you had the benefit of this report when you went in, and when it came to your negotiations, am I correct that for the Power Workers' Union, for pensions and benefits -- not benefits, but for pensions, the result is the status quo?  Nothing changed? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  If I can take you to Board Staff 102, attachment 14A --


MR. MILLAR:  Do you have the reference for that so it could be pulled up on the screen? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Exhibit L, tab 6.8, schedule 1, Staff 102, attachment 14A.  And if I could take you to page --



MR. MILLAR:  If you could hold -- we don't have paper copies handy, so I am hoping it can be pulled up on the screen. 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  If I could take you to page 4 of 13, and what you are looking at is management's agenda for this particular round of negotiations. 


MR. MILLAR:  Yes.


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  If I could take you there to item number 9 on pension and benefits sustainability committee, this was in light of these concerns, and recognizing that moving on contribution increases, while it helps, the resolve to some of these pension issues are more holistic.


This was our attempt, in terms of a different approach and a different strategy in the last round of negotiations, to get the union to agree to a formalized pension and benefits sustainability committee.


So outside the pressures of collective bargaining, where there are numerous issues that the parties are attempting and wrestling to deal with and trade off against, that we could have a more fulsome, dedicated discussion with more facts on the table, perhaps the inclusion of actuaries in that discussion to resolve any factual disputes and challenge that may occur.


And this was our attempt to move in a progressive way to try and establish some more holistic change around pensions.


And unfortunately, that was not attained in this round of negotiations.  Similarly dismissed in the Albertyn decision, as well. 


MR. MILLAR:  So you were unable to meet this goal through your negotiations? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Then when it came to the actual numbers, if I can put it that way, around pensions -- not the numbers, the actual wording of the agreement with respect to pensions, it is the status quo? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  It was the status quo.


MR. MILLAR:  So nothing changed? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Correct.


MR. MILLAR:  And you've got the Power Workers back again in March 2015; is that right? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  Are we going to get to some changes then? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Well, I think what has evolved, from that point anyway, is that there has been a recognition -- there was a pension expert appointed by the Minister of Finance -- I believe it was Minister of Finance, not the Minister of Energy -- to engage in stakeholder consultations with all of the employers in the sector and the unions alike, and to make a report on -- to the government, and recommendations about a path forward with respect to pension reform. 


And I take it that is, in part, of the recognition that making these sweeping reforms in collective bargaining may not be an achievable outcome. 


MR. MILLAR:  So for your next round of negotiations, I guess, at this point we don't know what impact that will have? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  We don't know what impact that will have.  Once we start our prep for negotiations, however, we will need to factor that in, amongst what other changes we need to drive with respect to pension changes at this point, consistent with some of the changes that are already identified and being implemented for management in the 2016 time frame. 


MR. MILLAR:  Can you -- absent changes, are you going to be able to continue to operate your business? 

MS. LADAK:  Yeah, no, we definitely need to have changes in order to be sustainable as a company.


MR. MILLAR:  With respect to the Society, that's the one that went to binding arbitration, as we discussed.  Was this report filed as part of that arbitration?  Is that something you can share with us?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No, that report was not shared.


MR. MILLAR:  And why not?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  Our focus was on the financial impacts of our pension obligations, which -- maybe I am weighing into an area here which starts to talk about strategy and tactics with respect to collective bargaining.


MR. MILLAR:  Fair enough.  It wasn't filed, though.  You can confirm that?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  It is obviously -- perhaps that is the reason it is not mentioned in the decision.  We went to page 31 earlier, where you took us.  There is no discussion of it there.  That would perhaps explain why.


I don't know much about how arbitration works, but in my review with the decision the employer's ability to pay is one of the considerations in arbitration; is that fair?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  It has been stated as a criteria that interest arbitrators should consider.  But in a long line of cases most arbitrators have determined that it's not a particularly relevant factor.


I may ask Mr. Chaykowski if he would want to opine on this from his experience.


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Yes.  This was a major area that we investigated in the report that we did for the Drummond Commission.  It was the -- an analysis of the various criteria that interest arbitrators bring to bear.


What I did conclude was that, more than a situation where interest arbitrations won't pay much attention to it, they in many cases flatly reject it, and so, in fact, they may, with respect to the arbitration community, pay some lip service to it.  They actually do not tend to take into account ability to pay.


And I think one of the reasons is a line of reasoning which essentially says that workers should not be paid lower than they ought to be truly paid, to save taxpayers, quite frankly.  I mean -- taxpayers should pay the amount to workers what the workers contribute through their jobs, regardless of whether they're private sector, public sector workers.  In this case they're public sector workers generally, in the broader public sector, and they should not be cross-subsidizing the taxpayer through inordinately low wages in relation to the value of the work that they provide.


MR. MILLAR:  Well, private sector workers certainly have to do that, don't they?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I'm sorry?


MR. MILLAR:  Private sector workers certainly have to do that.


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I'm sorry?


MR. MILLAR:  A private sector worker certainly has to do that, correct?  They can only pay as much as consumers will pay them.  The market forces --


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  No.  I think that in the medium- to long-term in the private sector, and particularly in non-unionized situations where market forces come to bear, there needs to be a relationship between pay increases and productivity increases.  That's what makes wages sustainable in the long-term.  And so I think that the dynamic there is a little bit different.


But back to the original, I think it is absolutely the case that interest arbitrators do not want to apply the ability to pay criterion.


MR. MILLAR:  So it is fine for OPG, because they actually can't access the taxpayer to pay the bill.  So even in a case with OPG where ability to pay is a real thing, they actually cannot go to the taxpayer.  So an arbitrator seeing a report saying OPG is going out of business would just shrug his shoulders?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Right.  In practice, I mean, in labour relations it is well-known that if you ask one party or the other if they have the ability to pay, the answer tends to be, No, of course I don't.  My pockets are empty.

So I think that the idea of inability to pay is held with some scepticism.


MS. HARE:  But Dr. Chaykowski, if I can just go back.  You talked about the arbitrators and decisions about inordinately low wages.  We're not talking about OPG, inordinately low wages.  Quite the opposite.


The concern here that is being expressed by many is that the wages are too high.  So how is that relevant?  I mean, your answer theoretically makes sense, but how does it apply to OPG?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well, you know, I think you've hit the right point.  It is in many cases all relative, and that's why I have a strong aversion, for example, to the Sunshine list, because it is completely arbitrary.


You know, I earn over $100,000 a year, but am I overpaid or underpaid?  It is the politics of salary envy, quite frankly.  And what pay needs to be tied to is the value of the services provided, and if the value of the services provided is high, it will command a high salary.  If the value of the services is extremely low, it will provide an extremely low, you know, wage or salary.


And the goal that has been strived for in this province for quite a number of years as a matter, in my view, of government policy is to create a high-wage, high-salary economy.  It is to be high-wage.


So I find it very ironic that when we have an industry such as electricity where people are, you know, typically very well-educated, they're productive, they work hard, by all standards, and they're paid well, that they want to be dragged down.


So I have a problem with that, because it seems like a thumbnail sketch approach to what is an appropriate pay level.


And so another example would be this issue which came up before the break of the pay of Ontario public service executives.  There have been a number of studies which, to the best of my recollection, show that they tend to be underpaid relative to the private sector, but it is the same work that is being performed on a job-to-job basis.  And that's not pay justice.  They're being underpaid.


And so I think that in a sector like this, where you have the characteristics, the configuration of characteristics of the workers that you do, I don't find it shocking that a large number are paid over 100,000.


And in general I would look to see, you know, what the educational backgrounds are, what the work performed is, and layered on to this, of course, in this particular circumstance, we have a sector which is very highly organized, and that's going to add to the pay levels as well.


MS. DUFF:  Just going back to your quote here, you're saying:

"I find it very ironic that when we have an industry such as electricity where people as -- like, people you know typically are very well-educated, they're productive, and they work hard by all standards..."


Is that your expert opinion with respect to OPG?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well, yes.  I think that the employees are well-trained, well-educated.


MS. DUFF:  And productive and work hard?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well, I'm sure they are relatively productive and work hard.  I haven't seen any evidence to the contrary.  But, you know, this is one of those questions, you know, how do we measure these things?


But I have seen no evidence that they're not productive and that they don't work hard.  I am not aware of any.


MS. DUFF:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, in truth, I have many questions following that, but I am worried I am going to get sidetracked and not get to everything I have to, so I am going to move on.


Maybe some more questions for OPG on this topic.  In light of this Towers Watson report, it seems to me there is probably three ways that this is likely to go.  The first that I would see is that you go bankrupt, and I assume that is not OPG's plan?


MS. EARLE:  No, it is not.


MR. MILLAR:  The second is you could negotiate changes to your pension plans with your unions, and my understanding is you're either unwilling or unable to do that.  At least to date there's been no progress on that front.  Is that right?


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  No, I don't take that as a truism.  As I have said, we have negotiated increases in rates, on the employee contributions.  We've switched tactics somewhat to try and engage in a more holistic discussion, and we're going to continue to do that in the future, and that may be informed somewhat by what the shareholder decides to do with the report given from a pension expert after consultation with all of the employers and the respective bargaining agents. 


MR. MILLAR:  The most recent experience we have, being the Power Workers agreement and the Society arbitration award, is status quo with respect to pensions? 


MR. FITZSIMMONS:  That's correct.


MR. MILLAR:  In any event, if you fail to get concessions there or find a way to rework the plan to make it sustainable, and you don't go bankrupt, I guess the only other option is you would seek a bailout from ratepayers; is that right?  That's a third option?  You would seek to recover the money through your payment amounts?  Whatever it takes to make the plan whole, you would go to ratepayers and ask the Board to approve that increase? 


MS. LADAK:  If we can demonstrate that we have incurred costs, prudently incurred costs, and it makes sense, then we would bring those costs to the Board for approval.


MR. MILLAR:  So is that the plan? 


MS. LADAK:  Well, we haven't -- as Mr. Fitzsimmons says, we're trying to make progress on some of these issues.  So, like, it's not the plan, but if it comes down to it, if there are additional costs, we would go to the Board and we would seek recovery of those costs.


MR. MILLAR:  Sorry, sometimes we get confused.  By "Board," I was speaking about this Board.  I assume --


MS. LADAK:  Yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  All right.  Dr. Chaykowski, I wanted to ask you about something.  I -- we'll see where we get with this.  I don't know much about it personally.  I am hoping you could help me a little bit.


I was reading the Globe and Mail the other day, and I've provided extracts from an article that starts at page 122 of the compendium.


I take it will there's probably all sorts of differences here and that the specific articles of the article probably aren't necessarily all that important, but I want to get your thoughts on a few things.


This is an article entitled:  "The Third Rail: New Brunswick's Electrifying Pension Plan Revival."


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  I understand it is actually extracts from a book.  Are you familiar with the book or are you familiar generally with this situation? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I am familiar with the book only generally.  I have not read it.


But certainly this idea of pensions being the third rail, being a very, very difficult socio-political issue that people sort of don't want to touch, as it were.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  So I am going to ask you some questions and you can let me know what you can help me with and what you can't.


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Sure.  Bearing in mind, if you will, that I am not an expert on pensions, per se.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Fair enough.  So I understand the situation in New Brunswick was quite dire.  Their -- the exact specifics of the pension plan, I don't know, but it looks like there was a -- one of the province's large pension plans -- it appears to have been for healthcare workers and community employees or something like that -- it suffered some very serious hits through the financial crisis in 2008, 2009.


And if you flip over to page 123, you will see about the third line down:

"Without drastic measures, the actuary warned, the pension plan was no longer sustainable."


I will ask you to skip the beginning of the next sentence to keep this a family-friendly hearing.


[Laughter]


MR. MILLAR:  But then the next line says, quoting one of the -- someone who was involved in this:

"That's when we knew it was going in the tank.  'Unsustainable' is actuarial code for bankruptcy."


So they were in a very difficult position, from what I understand.


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  That was my understanding, in looking at this. 


MR. MILLAR:  And what they did was -- I guess one way or another, both the employer and the employee, I guess they realized some tough decisions had to be made?  The union and the employer both realized:  We're in big trouble here.  We've got to do something; is that fair? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I think that's fair. 


MR. MILLAR:  And together -- again, without getting into all of the details, because I'm not sure how relevant they are or how much time we want to spend, but they worked out some fairly significant reforms to the pension system.  Is that your understanding? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Yes. 


MR. MILLAR:  They moved to what is called a shared risk model? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Yes.


MR. MILLAR:  What is that? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well, I don't know the details of this -–


MR. MILLAR:  Sure.  As a general matter, what is a shared risk model as opposed to a non-shared risk model? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well, you know, in general, I think there are sort of three models for pensions in the extreme.  And after all, you know, pensions represent large pools of funds which tend to get invested, and whenever there are investments there are risks associated with whether the investments will go up or down, hence the traumatic impact of the financial crisis on pension funds.


But this is true in general.  Workers can assume the risk, employers can assume the risk, or it can be shared in some proportion.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  So they moved to a shared risk model.  It says that that is something they tend to do in Holland as well.  Are you familiar with that, or is that beyond your -- 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  It could be, but I am not familiar with that.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Fair enough.


It looks like, as a result of this or perhaps in addition to this, just from what I've read in the article -- call me on this if you like -- it looks like employee contributions were increased as part of these reforms?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I could well believe that.


MR. MILLAR:  Some benefits appear to have been reduced as well.


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  I could well believe that.


MR. MILLAR:  It looks like all of this was done not only without a work stoppage of any sort, but in fact with the cooperation of the unions; is that right? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  It would appear so. 


MR. MILLAR:  So why is this sort of thing not possible in Ontario?  Why can New Brunswick do this but we can't? 


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well, you know, I think the situations vary a little bit in the context matter.


My observation is that pension issues are critical right across most of the Ontario broader public sector.  I realize, from following the discussion here today, that it is obviously a big issue here.  But these organizations, the unions and OPG, are not alone and the electricity sector is not alone. 


There are some -- and you see evidence of that in the report of Professor Harry Arthurs for the provincial government.  You see that in the work of -- the report of Mr. Jim Leech.


So I think it is -- if nothing else is well understood, what is well understood is that there are a great number of pension plans that are in trouble in this province.  And that's probably true in the private sector as well as the public sector.  And that there is no quick fix.


And the problem, quite frankly, in my view, is that pensions constitute a very large proportion of our compensation.  They're very important to people, and people depend upon them for their post-retirement existence.


So it's not a small thing.  It's a big thing.  And it is therefore politically as well as socially loaded.  Hence this idea of the third rail. 


But the other thing that is sort of layered on here in Ontario are, you know, things related to solvency requirements that, you know, the parties weren't dealing with 15 or 20 years ago. 


So, you know, the mix of pressures starts to get, I think, very, very complicated.  And in a unionized setting, I think the unions realize that at the end of the day when things like contribution rates go up, it means that your take-home pay goes down.


This is what we call in industrial relations a "distributive issue"; what one party wins, the other party loses.  And they're going to fight for it; both sides will fight for it.


MR. MILLAR:  But who loses -- it is ratepayers who lose, right?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well, it comes down –- well, in the first instance, either a union and their -- the members that they represent will lose, or the employer and their shareholder will lose.  And it doesn't mean that there isn't collateral loss as well.  You mentioned ratepayers; that may well be the case, because at the end of the day, these things do have to get paid for.


But in the first instance, in a unionized setting, a large part of the solution or -- I don't know about a large part, but a part will likely be resolved through collective bargaining, and a large part of it may be resolved outside of collective bargaining.


What I personally see happening is an increasing tendency toward government intervention to solve this problem more broadly in the Ontario broader public sector, because the problems are so difficult that they go well beyond the powers of the individual parties to resolve.


That's where I see this actually going. 


MR. MILLAR:  In fact, that was part of the solution in New Brunswick as well?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Absolutely.


MR. MILLAR:  I spoke about the cooperation between the union and the employer, but the government was also involved.  There was also a favourable court decision, I think, that assisted things along.  So it wasn't just the employer and the employee?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Absolutely.  And I think that is illustrative of the point I am exactly, you know, making, which is that this problem is bigger than any two parties, even when the parties are significant players, and that the government is very likely to get involved.


And I think in this province, they're going to get involved in a big way, possibly across the electricity sector, but I think well beyond the electricity sector.  It is an issue in education.  It is an issue in healthcare.  It is an issue right across the BPS. 


MR. MILLAR:  In New Brunswick, they were able to get this done without a work stoppage, it appears?


DR. CHAYKOWSKI:  Well, I think the circumstances there are different.  I mean, there was a court challenge associated with this.  I don't know the details of that.


But I would be surprised if there wasn't a lot of government, shall we say, persuasion. 


MR. MILLAR:  Let me move on, I think -- I hope -- to my final area, and I hope it doesn't take too long.


I have a few questions with regard to either overstaffing or the perception of overstaffing, and I appreciate much of this was gone over with the previous panel, so I only have a few questions in largely how it relates to compensation budgets.


I don't know how familiar you are with the history to this, but is this panel aware that in 2006 there was a Navigant report which appears to have indicated that OPG was overstaffed by something in the range of 12 percent?  Are you familiar with that?


MS. EARLE:  I think at a high level we're familiar with that.


MR. MILLAR:  Certainly you're familiar with the Goodnight report that is part of this application?


MS. EARLE:  Again at a high level, yes, we are.


MR. MILLAR:  And again, I only intend to go over it at a high level.  In fact, I don't think we even have to pull it up.  But this was a report that I understand OPG commissioned in response to a directive from the Board in the last proceeding.  They sought to benchmark nuclear staffing levels against other North American nuclear operators.


Does that sound right so far?  Again, if you don't know, you don't know, but --


MS. EARLE:  Yeah, no, to the best of my knowledge, that is accurate.


MR. MILLAR:  And then the conclusion was, as of February 2012, that for the positions that they were able to survey, OPG was about 866 full-time equivalents over the benchmark.  There was an update after that, and as of 2013 Goodnight concluded that you were around 400 full-time equivalents over the benchmark.


As a high-level summary, does that sound right to you?


MS. EARLE:  Do you have that reference in your compendium?


MR. MILLAR:  I probably do.  Let's look at page 12.  Actually, page 13.  I think the difference there that you see is the 890 whatever it was, 866 I was talking about, though -- yeah, maybe that's right.  I don't have a reference.  I could pull up the 400 as well, but -- I'm sorry, if you look at page 15 you will see the 866 full-time equivalents?


MS. EARLE:  Right.  But I think you mentioned that this has since been updated, so that number is actually --


MR. MILLAR:  You're absolutely right.  The new number is around 400 and --


MS. EARLE:  Okay.  So half.


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, it is something like that.  I forget what the exact number is.  But you're generally familiar with how that has played out?


MS. EARLE:  Generally.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  And I understood that -- I believe it was Mr. Barrett or somebody said that OPG, in fact, accepts the conclusions of the Goodnight report.  Are you aware of that?


MS. EARLE:  I believe, from the previous panels, that nuclear has generally accepted those results.


MR. MILLAR:  And Mr. Stephenson took some people through how the numbers might work out for the test period, for example, and doubtless, I think he's going to argue the numbers now are much less than 400.


But whatever it is, if you've accepted the conclusions of the Goodnight report, have you accepted the implications as well?  By that I mean that you shouldn't be recovering the money for those staff from ratepayers?  Does OPG accept that?


MS. EARLE:  I don't believe that we accept that, but I am not certain that I should be speaking on behalf of OPG in terms of its rate application on that one point.  I am not sure if anyone on our panel is better able to speak to that or...


MS. LADAK:  I think you would have heard from the nuclear panel, and you will hear from the next panel that, yes, we do require the staff to deliver the services that we provide.  So from that perspective, we wouldn't accept that.

MR. MILLAR:  And this may be beyond obvious, but to the extent you are overstaffed -- and I appreciate there may be some dispute as to whether and how much that is true -- but to the extent you are overstaffed, that has a direct impact on your revenue requirement, right?  You would be...


MS. LADAK:  The labour costs would flow in our revenue requirement, yes.


MR. MILLAR:  Exactly.  Again, if we're in areas that aren't within your expertise, let me know.  But Goodnight, I understand, was only able to benchmark you for about 5,000 of your employees, and it drew no conclusions with respect to the rest of your staff.  Do you know about that?


MS. LADAK:  I'm not sure about that.


MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Panel, thank you very much for your patience with me today.  I know this was lengthy and probably felt longer -- well, it felt long for me.  It probably felt long for you as well.  But those are my questions.


MS. HARE:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.
Procedural Matters:


I think, Mr. Rubenstein, there is no point in starting, so we will start tomorrow at 9:30.  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  Madam Chair, before we leave, there is one matter I would like to draw to your attention.  We have been provided with a copy of a letter from EUCG that I am sure will be brought to your attention by Staff, but it questions the decision that was made with respect to confidentiality.


I don't take a position with respect to the Board's decision.  I have no comment on the EUCG letter, and I don't expect we will be taking any position at all.


I just wanted to flag it because we've received it.  And I'm sure it will be brought to your attention.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Staff, do we have that letter?


MR. MILLAR:  We do have the letter.  This is actually the first I have seen of it.  So thank you, Mr. Smith.  I guess we will read it ourselves and we will forward it to the panel, because it is addressed to you.


MR. SMITH:  I was just raising it because to the extent you were looking -- you might have looked to us for a position, we have no position, and obviously we accept the Board's decision on confidentiality, but EUCG has put it in a letter.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing was adjourned at 4:17 p.m. 
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